
 
 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission 
 

  
All Members of the Governance & Resources Scrutiny Commission are requested 
to attend the meeting of the Commission to be held as follows: 

 

 
Monday, 10th November, 2014  
 
7.00 pm 
 
Room 103, Hackney Town Hall, Mare Street, London E8 1EA 

 

  

Gifty Edila 
Corporate Director of Legal, Human Resources and Regulatory Services 

 

 
Contact: 
Tracey Anderson 
( 020 8356 3312 
* tracey.anderson@hackney.gov.uk 

 

 
 

Members: Cllr Rick Muir (Chair), Cllr Deniz Oguzkanli, Cllr Will Brett, 
Cllr Laura Bunt, Cllr Rebecca Rennison and Cllr Nick Sharman 

 
Agenda 

 
ALL MEETINGS ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

1 Apologies for Absence   

2 Urgent Items / Order of Business   

3 Declarations of Interest   

4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 1 - 12) 

5 London Borough of Hackney Policy Update - Long 
Term Unemployment  

(Pages 13 - 28) 

6 Public Spend Review - Lewisham, Lambeth and 
Southwark Community Budget Programme  

(Pages 29 - 136) 

7 Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission - 
2014/15  Work Programme  

(Pages 137 - 142) 

8 Any Other Business   

 
 



 
 
 

Access and Information 
 
 

Getting to the Town Hall 

For a map of how to find the Town Hall, please visit the council’s website 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm or contact the Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer using the details provided on the front cover of this agenda. 

 
 

Accessibility 

There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall. 
 
Induction loop facilities are available in the Assembly Halls and the Council Chamber. 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 

 
 

Further Information about the Commission 
 
If you would like any more information about the Scrutiny 
Commission, including the membership details, meeting dates 
and previous reviews, please visit the website or use this QR 
Code (accessible via phone or tablet ‘app’) 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/individual-scrutiny-commissions-
governance-and-resources.htm  

 
 

Public Involvement and Recording 
Scrutiny meetings are held in public, rather than being public meetings. This means 
that whilst residents and press are welcome to attend, they can only ask questions at 
the discretion of the Chair. For further information relating to public access to 
information, please see Part 4 of the council’s constitution, available at 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/l-gm-constitution.htm or by contacting Governance 
Services (020 8356 3503) 
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings 
 
Where a meeting of the Council and its committees are open to the public, the press 
and public are welcome to report on meetings of the Council and its committees, 
through any audio, visual or written methods and may use digital and social media 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting and providing that the 
person reporting or providing the commentary is present at the meeting. 



 
Those wishing to film, photograph or audio record a meeting are asked to notify the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer by noon on the day of the meeting, if possible, or any 
time prior to the start of the meeting or notify the Chair at the start of the meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer, or the Chair of the meeting, may designate a set area from 
which all recording must take place at a meeting. 
 
The Council will endeavour to provide reasonable space and seating to view, hear 
and record the meeting.  If those intending to record a meeting require any other 
reasonable facilities, notice should be given to the Monitoring Officer in advance of 
the meeting and will only be provided if practicable to do so. 
 
The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all those present 
recording a meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting.   Anyone 
acting in a disruptive manner may be required by the Chair to cease recording or 
may be excluded from the meeting. Disruptive behaviour may include: moving from 
any designated recording area; causing excessive noise; intrusive lighting; 
interrupting the meeting; or filming members of the public who have asked not to be 
filmed. 
 
All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on recording 
councillors, officers and the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the 
meeting.  The Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they 
have objections to being visually recorded.  Those visually recording a meeting are 
asked to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed.   
Failure by someone recording a meeting to respect the wishes of those who do not 
wish to be filmed and photographed may result in the Chair instructing them to cease 
recording or in their exclusion from the meeting. 
 
If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public then in order to 
consider confidential or exempt information, all recording must cease and all 
recording equipment must be removed from the meeting room. The press and public 
are not permitted to use any means which might enable them to see or hear the 
proceedings whilst they are excluded from a meeting and confidential or exempt 
information is under consideration. 
 
Providing oral commentary during a meeting is not permitted. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission 
 
10th November 2014 
 
Minutes and Matters Arising 
 

 
Item No 

 

4 
 
Outline 
 
Attached are the draft minutes from the meeting on 13th October 2014.  
 
 
Action 
 
The Commission is asked to agree the minutes and note the matters arising. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of the proceedings of 
the Governance & Resources 
Scrutiny Commission held at 
Hackney Town Hall, Mare 
Street, London E8 1EA 

 
 

 
London Borough of Hackney 
Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission  
Municipal Year 2014/15 
Date of Meeting  Monday, 13th October, 2014 

 
 

Chair Councillor Rick Muir 
 

Councillors in 
Attendance 

Cllr Deniz Oguzkanli, Cllr Laura Bunt, 
Cllr Rebecca Rennison and Cllr Nick Sharman 

  
Apologies:  Cllr Will Brett 
  
Co-optees   
  
Officers In Attendance Bruce Devile (Head of Business Analysis and 

Complaints), Michael Honeysett (Assistant Director 
Financial Management), Joanna Sumner (Assistant Chief 
Executive) and Ian Williams (Corporate Director of 
Finance and Resources) 

  

Other People in 
Attendance 

Councillor Geoff Taylor (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

  
Members of the Public  
  

Officer Contact: 
 

Tracey Anderson 
( 020 8356 3312 
* tracey.anderson@hackney.gov.uk 
 

 
Councillor Rick Muir in the Chair 

 
 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  

 
1.1 Apologies from Cllr Will Brett. 
 
 

2 Urgent Items / Order of Business  
 
2.1 None. 
 
 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
3.1 None. 

 

Page 3



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
 
 

4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 
4.1 The minutes of the meeting held on 13th October 2014 were agreed. 
 

RESOLVED 
 

Minutes were 
approved. 

 
 
 

5 Annual complaints Enquires Report 2013/14  
 
5.1 The Chair welcomes Bruce Devile, Head of Business Analysis and Complaints. 

 
5.1.1 The report on pages 15-30 of the agenda provides details on the key 

developments in improving the complaints, member’s enquiry process and 
information about the volume of complaints and enquires for 2013/14.  
Previously the report was submitted to Standard Committee.  The key points 
highlighted from the report were: 

 
5.1.2 The complaints and members enquiry process was reviewed following 

concerns about quality and customer satisfaction levels.  The emphasis in the 
new process is to obtain a resolution to the problem as opposed prioritising 
issuing a response to the customer. 

 
5.1.3 The process was changed in 2013 with the significant change being a move 

from a 3 stage complaints process to a 2 stage process. 
 

5.1.4 An additional step was introduced to the process.  This is the sign-off of a 
complaint by the relevant Assistant Director (AD) for the service area. 

 
5.1.5 The volume of complaints escalating from stage 1 to stage 2 has dropped from 

14% to 7%. 
 

5.1.6 Performance targets for complaints and members enquire is based on the 
average number of days to resolve.  This was introduced as an incentive to 
staff to resolve straight forward complaints quicker. 

 
5.1.7 In 2013/14 the Housing Ombudsman Services (HOS) assumed responsibility 

for local authority housing complaints from the Local Government Ombudsman 
(LGO).  To date only the Local Government Ombudsman has produced a 
report and the HOS are reported to be taking 8-9 months to complete 
casework. 

 
5.1.8 Reports on the volume of complaints from LGO for London boroughs on page 

25 of the agenda outlines the volume of complaints referred.  It was highlighted 
that London Borough of Hackney (LBH) is low in comparison and the volume of 
complaints upheld on Council decision was a healthy 83%.  

 
5.1.9 In relation to Members enquires cases, these remained open until the complaint 

is resolved.  This means cases can take longer to close especially cases 
related to Hackney Homes. 

Page 4



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
 

5.2 Discussion, comments and responses 
a) Members raised the following queries in relation to the members enquiry 

process: 
• Why a response was always received on the 10th day not before or 

after? 
• Why a response was not being sent to the resident when a Member 

requested it?  Members queried if this related to the service area not 
wanting the resident to see the response they gave, because it disputed 
the facts stated by the resident. 

• Responses could be inconsistent especially Hackney Homes cases. 
• Response time to an urgent enquiry was unsatisfactory.  Members 

suggested these queries should have a different process because they 
required a quicker response time than 10 days. 

• Members highlighted although the process had changed.  Their 
interaction with the service remained the same.  Members asked when 
they would have the ability to track the progress of an enquiry. 

 
The Officer confirmed urgent cases did not have a separate process.  In the 
meantime the Head of Service offered for urgent cases to be sent to him and 
he would ensure they were processed quickly.   
 
In relation to sending a response to the resident, the officer advised they were 
aware some service areas were not responding to this request and did remind 
them to do this.  The Head of Service asked Members to inform him of the 
service areas and this would be taken up with the relevant service area. 
 
In relation to receiving the response, the Head of Service noted this comment 
and advised LBH officers should be responding to straight forward queries 
quicker because the focus was on the resolution rather than sending a 
response.  An addition to the process is the sign-off of each complaint by the 
relevant AD, but this should only cause a minor delay. 

 
Access to Covalent for Members is still in progress.  The Councils ICT 
infrastructure is being upgraded to My Office 2013 in December 2014.  
Business Analysis and Complaints were waiting for the release of the new web 
based version of the Covalent system (that can be used on tablets) and the ICT 
upgrade before implementing these changes for Members.  The new roll out 
date was expected to be in the 1st quarter of 2015. 

 
b) Members raised concern about the quality of case responses.  Members 

suggested the Business Analysis and Complaints team could obtain the view of 
Councillors if they sent a quick 2/3 question survey to Councillors with each 
completed case response.  This would help them to identify the directorate with 
the poor quality response quickly. 

 
c) Members enquired if Business Analysis and Complaints had identified if there 

was a particular demographic or respondent that did not complain.  If not how 
did the team plan to obtain this information and identify this group? 

 
d) The Head of Service confirmed the complaint form was online and using this 

mechanism for submitting complaints has not impacted on the number of 
complaints from Hackney Homes residents.   

Page 5



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
 

A changing trend noted was the increase in the number of complaints from the 
newer resident demographic moving into the borough. 

 
e) Members referred to point 4.3 and asked for clarification in relation to increase 

in the number of complaints for review / stage 3 in 2012/13, reduction in the 
number of complaints from stage 1 to the new review stage (stage2).   

 
The Head of Service explained the decrease related to the number of 
complaints progressing from stage 1.  The increase reported related to the 
stage 2 (that no longer existed) progressing to stage 3. 

 
f) Members asked if the complaints data was used to identify trends and used to 

help service areas improve. 
 

Members were informed complaints data is analysed and if a trend is identified 
from resident complaints, this information is passed onto the service area.  It 
was noted the Business Analysis and Complaints were identifying trends 
quicker to support service area improvements.  

 
g) Members enquired if there were regular complainants or a mixture of people.  

The officer advised it was a mixture both regular and new complainants.  It was 
noted they did not seek to dismiss regular complainants as vexatious because 
often there are genuine issues and sometimes it can take a while to identify the 
real issue behind a large number of complaints from one person. 

 
h) Members referred to an independent appeals process that a Housing 

Association operates.  This process involves having a panel of residents who 
review cases that are difficult to resolve.  Members pointed out this appeared to 
be a successful process because a resident in dispute with the organisation 
may be more inclined to accept the decision of a resident panel.  An example 
was cited of one case that was a long standing dispute between a resident and 
the organisation, which was resolved because the individual accepted the 
decision of fellow residents. 

 
The officer confirmed this was quite a common process used by housing 
associations.  Members were informed Hackney does not operate this process, 
instead has a designated person for cases of this nature.  The Cabinet Member 
for Housing is Hackney’s designated person.  It was reported the volume of 
cases progressing through this process was very small approximately 1 or 2 a 
month. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive for Programme Projects and Performance 
explained the complaints system was used systematically in service area 
reviews to support improvements and is instrumental to the review work looking 
at housing repairs service. 
 

i) Members were encouraged to hear about the changes to the system and the 
positive outcomes achieved from the new process implemented.   

 
Members challenged the officers to progress towards providing a service that 
meets the needs of people too.  Members were informed the housing repairs 
review was aimed at moving the service area away from looking at repairs in 

Page 6



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
isolation.  Instead to take a holistic view of the processes from beginning to end 
using the resident’s experience of the service from first point of contact to 
completed repair to inform improvements. 

 
 

6 Governance Review Executive Response  
 
6.1 The Chair referred Member to the Executive response (on pages 33-37 of the 

agenda) received, related to the Commissions recommendations made about 
the Council’s review of its governance structures.  

 
6.1.1 The recommendations were supported. 
 
6.1.2 The Chair referred to recommendation 4 and informed the first debate was 

scheduled for Full Council meeting in January 2015. 
 
6.1.3 Members expressed support for joining up neighbourhood meetings.  The 

Assistant Chief Executive for Programme Projects and Performance advised 
Lea Bridge Ward was scheduled to trail a joint meeting date unfortunately the 
CAP was postponed due to a police emergency.  This has been rescheduled. 

 
6.1.4 A Member of the Corporate Committee asked if the scrutiny commission could 

review the role and responsibility of this Committee.  It was highlighted that 
Members were confused about their role and the purposed of the committee 
outside the financial remit.  The Cabinet Member for Finance suggested the 
commission reviewed the Share Intelligence Report produced by the consultant 
who conducted the review, to understand the recommendations made on the 
role and purpose of the Committee. 
 
The Chair agreed review this matter further and suggested the Commission 
invited the Corporate Director of Legal HR and Regulatory Services and the 
Chair of the Corporate Committee to discuss the role and remit of the 
Corporate Committee as outlined in the constitution. 
 
Members agreed. 
 

6.1.5 Executive response to the Commissions recommendations was noted. 
 

Action Members agreed to 
invite the Corporate 
Director of Legal HR 
and Regulatory 
Services and the Chair 
of the Corporate 
Committee to discuss 
the role and remit of 
the Corporate 
Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
7 Public Spend Review  

 
7.1 The Chair welcomed the Cabinet Member for Finance, Councillor Geoff Taylor 

and Corporate Director for Finance and Resources, Ian Williams to the 
meeting.  Also in attendance was the Assistant Chief Executive for Programme 
Projects and Performance, Joanna Sumner. 

 
7.1.1 The Corporate Director Finance and Resources presented information on the 

financial challenge; budget and total public spend in Hackney.  The main points 
noted were: 
• The average person is still feeling the effects of the austerity. 
• The UK suffered a deep recession from 2008, but is recovering well and 

has overtaken France. 
• The Gross Domestic Product for the UK has fluctuated each quarter over 

the last few years. 
• The current challenges result from limited investment in national services 

post 1945 and the development of a powerful social democratic that 
expects consistent services. 

• The UK borrowing is increasing and national debt is rising at a speedy 
rate. 

• UK government has prioritised four key areas of spend: international 
development, welfare, NHS and education.  All other public sector spend 
areas are unprotected and will feel squeeze. 

• Public sector employment has changed and started to fall. 
• Public sector is expected to experience five more years of unprotected 

resources like the last four years, which means local government will 
experience further spending and staff reductions. 

• Wider public sector change impacting on spend is:  
NHS - fragmentation and shortage of resources with a £30 billion gap 
Schools - new funding regime implemented meaning less council control,  
Welfare reform - universal credit roll out date changed and brought 
forward from 2016 to 2015 
City regional policy affecting urban areas. 

• The high spend areas does not necessarily cover a large volume of 
people.  The areas of high public sector spend cover a small percentage 
of the population. 

• Public sector services will be required to find saving for 2015 and beyond 
as the gap between income and funding widens. 

• Local government has a small proportion of the funding under its control.  
Funding that comes into Hackney is shared with public services: Police, 
Fire, College, Academies and Free Schools, Transport, NHS, Department 
of Work and Pensions. 

• Emerging themes noted of challenge areas related to spend are work 
based benefits and housing pressures. 

 
7.2 The Chair presented the Terms of reference and outlined the objectives of the 

review.   
 
7.2.1 The aim of this review was to find ways to provide services that meet the needs 

of service users and local residents. Prevention focused to reduce need and 
build capacity within the Council. 

 
7.2.2 The anticipated outcomes were noted to be:  

Page 8



Monday, 13th October, 2014  

• Practical recommendations from individual ‘deep dives’ into particular areas, 
that will describe the actions different services should take to reduce 
unnecessary demand/cost; 

• A ‘whole place’ methodology for thinking differently about services that can be 
deployed across the council and beyond;  

• The development of skills within the council, beyond scrutiny commission, so 
that this kind of thinking becomes embedded in how the council works. 

 
7.2.3 A working group Chaired by the Chair of G&R was set up.  This group will meet 

monthly to take the work forward with support from across the Council and with 
partners.  The group would report back to G&R with regular updates on the 
progress. 

 
7.2.4 The method of approach was outlined to be: 

• Identification of areas of high spend/high need via a high level analysis of 
the areas of big spend, as well as borough level outcomes data; 

• Selection of the first ‘deep dive’; 
• Detailed work as part of that deep dive, involving speaking to service users, 

officers, all relevant service providers and expert witnesses; 
• On-going learning about ‘whole systems’ approaches, via discussions with 

those who have carried out similar exercises; 
• Produce a report from the ‘deep dive’ which will identify practical 

recommendations for all relevant stakeholders; 
• Select further areas for additional ‘deep dives’. 

 
7.2.5 It was explained the review would be a continuous learning exercise and will 

involve looking at best practice and the work of other local authorities 
embarking on this type of work. 

 
7.2.6 The areas presented in the matrix suggested for deep dives were extracted 

from the information presented in the ‘State of the Borough’ report in the 
agenda. 

 
7.2.7 The deep dive categories presented in the TOR for consideration were: 

• More people living independently in their homes 
• More people able to work or volunteer 
• Reducing child poverty 
• Supporting young people in the transition to adulthood 
• Reducing homelessness.   

 
7.2.8 The Commission would aim to create a standard process for community 

engagement for a whole system review. 
 
7.3 Discussion, comments and responses 
 
a) Following the presentation by the Corporate Director Finance and Resources 

the following points were made: 
1) The Cabinet Member for Finance explained the pending crisis has been 

building up over the last 30 – 40 years as a result of limited investment in 
public services.  The financial constraints in the current climate and need 
to address shortfall in income can not be addressed by shifting resources 
from one sector to another. 

Page 9



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
2) Local Government would need to think about how to reorganise services 

in the public sector as a whole, to co-ordinate all services not just their 
service provision. 

3) The UK wishes to carry on providing services but the allocation of 
resources will not willing to provide the resources to support the current 
provision. 

4) The factors that have created the crisis will not change.  How public 
services are reorganised will be important and require some devolution 
power to local government to be successful.  Through this work the 
scrutiny commission can help to demonstrate how local government can 
do things differently. 

5) This presented a future of local government providing fewer services.  It 
will require local government to think different and devolution would help 
with this process. 

6) Members commented from the information presented local government 
was in the section that will continuously face budget reduction.  This 
presented huge challenges ahead for local government.  

7) Recovery was more evident in the South of England.  For local 
government to see improvements the North of England would need to 
show signs of a stronger recovery. 

8) Potential areas of work may not necessarily be the areas of big spend and 
the Commission should bear this in mind. 

 
b) Members discussed the draft TOR and the following points were made: 

1) There could be contradictions between high spend and high need.  
Therefore it may be more appropriate to look at a specific service area like 
the troubled families work instead of taking a large topic area like health. 

2) The deep dives will need to reflect how citizens will be involved. 
3) A key issue is building capacity within the council to carry on the work on 

beyond pilot stage and chart the challenges throughout the process. 
4) This financial crisis should be viewed as an opportunity to do something 

different with public services. 
5) The review will start with the service user.  It will be imperative 

continuously check the work remains focused on the issues from the 
needs of the individual. 

6) The work needs to include data from other organisations and not just 
Hackney Council data. 

7) Members were reminded that the process for the whole system review 
was a reiterative process and would involve returning to service users 
periodically to check the service redesign aligned with the service users 
needs. 

8) Members discussed inviting other local authorities in who have conducted 
pilots to get practical information about the challenges and conducting the 
process.  Members talked about having an advisory group of key people 
(engaged in the review) that the Commission could consult about 
information and could give advice on service users needs.  The Officer 
reminded Members the experts who attended in September cautioned 
against having a representative group, but continuously go back the 
service user to check the information.  Members were informed Hackney 
has a citizen E Panel of approximately 3000 people which is a 
representative sample of local residents. 

Page 10



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
9) Members suggested the working group looks at the types of community 

engagement and presents the options of engagement so they can identify 
the best model to use. 

10) If looking at employment the review would need to distinguish the cohort it 
will focus on e.g.  
Ø working age people with a disability  
Ø long term unemployed who have developed mental ill health 
Ø unemployed person with mental ill health. 

11) Members referred to childcare and noted this was a critical issue.  It was 
agreed this was not an issue that could be solved locally but would require 
regional and national intervention. 

12) Members raised young black men as a key issue.  It was pointed out this 
was highlighted in a piece of work Community Safety Social Inclusion 
Scrutiny Commission (CSSI) conducted.  Assistant Chief Executive for 
Programme Projects and Performance informed LBH Cabinet has 
commissioned a piece of work to look at young black men.  The Terms of 
Reference cover this area of work could be circulated to the commission 
Members. 

 
Action Members agreed the 

TOR. 
 
c) Members discussed the possible areas to look at in the deep dive and the 

following points were made: 
1) Members discussed each deep dive category proposed in the TOR and 

agreed the area selected would need to be an area that has some degree 
of local control. 

2) Members discussed independent living and focusing on hospital discharge 
to enable more people to live independently. 

3) Members discussed long term unemployment and conducting a review on 
this area would make a big impact.  The review could explore the 
possibility of the council setting up an employment brokerage service, 
working with local businesses, encouraging them to give back to the 
community.  The Assistant Chief Executive suggested the Commission 
should talk to Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark who were in the 
process of setting up a new integrated support into work service as part of 
a community budget pilot. 

4) This review will help the council to move away from working in silo and 
working more in partnership for delivery of public services. 

5) Members discussed focusing on the first two areas and suggested doing 
initial research on these topic areas to enable them to decide which one to 
focus on for the deep dive. 

6) Members discussed finding out the gross figures related to long term 
unemployed and number of people occupying hospital beds to hospital 
discharge delays. 

7) Members talked about including the service user journey in the scope of 
the review. 

8) The Assistant Chief Executive for Programme Projects and Performance 
suggested the commission talked to the Council’s Ways into Work Team 
about their work and success with getting people into employment.  To get 
an understanding of the support methods used that have been successful 
in Hackney. 

Page 11



Monday, 13th October, 2014  
9) Members agreed their deep dive area would be either long term 

unemployment or independent living.  Members suggested the Steering 
Group clarifies the number of people long term unemployed and number 
of people occupying hospital beds due to a delay with hospital discharge. 

 
d) The Chair summarised the following actions.  
 

Action Members requested for 
the O&S Officer to 
circulate to Members 
1. Policy report on 

employment 
2. Young black men 

TOR 
3. Steering group to 

identify models for 
community 
engagement and 
present it to the 
commission 

4. Invite Lewisham to 
the next G&R 
meeting to talk about 
their community 
budget work. 

 
 
 
 

8 Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission - 2014/15  Work Programme  
 
8.1 The work programme was noted. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business  
 
9.1 None. 
 
 
 

 
Duration of the meeting: 7.00  - 9.45 pm  
 

Page 12



 1

 
 
Governance & Resources Scrutiny Commission 
 
10th November 2014 
 
Public Spend Review  
 
 

 
Item No 

 

5 
 
OUTLINE 
 
Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission is embarking on a whole 
place review of public services in the Borough covering statutory public sector 
providers, voluntary sector and private sector.   
 
A presentation will be provided by London Borough Lewisham on the 
Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark Community Budget programme to 
support people with complex needs into work. 
 
 
ACTION 
 
The Commission is asked to note the presentation and ask questions. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Supporting those with complex 

needs into work 

Lewisham’s work on Universal credit pilot, troubled 

families, and our community budget proposals 

across Lambeth Lewisham and Southwark 

P
age 15



With 30k people on out of work benefits, we 

have focused on this area to improve outcomes  

• Universal credit pilot for the benefit cap, and deep dive site for DWP 

 

• Troubled families activity performing well (5 in London, 20 in country) 

 

• Community budget being developed with Lambeth and Southwark 

councils and our partners P
age 16



What we have learnt about our clients from the 

UC pilot 

• Of the residents transitioning to UC, around 40% need some support in their 

application 

 

• 0f the benefit cap affected claimants, 60% needed extra support: 

– 21% had self declare mental health issues 

– 18% had learning difficulties 

– 7% were experiencing domestic violence 

– 15% had literacy issues and  

– 3% had self- declared poor English (although advisors estimated that 

25% need translators)  

– High proportion were single mothers with 4+ children 

 

Lessons: importance of referral points, need to consider whole individual and 

complexity of issues, needs all interrelated, employment support is vital 

P
age 17



What do we know about the barriers to work that 

our troubled families experience? 

Many of the same issues but concentration of: 

 

• Low mood, self esteem, confidence, low level mental health issues 

 

• Complex lives meaning that work low down on priority list 

 

• Lack of work experience, both as a barrier to potential employers but as a 
personal barrier to understanding work 

 

• Lack of motivation 

 

• Availability of suitably flexible employment  

 

• Overcoming perceptions over the cost of childcare and the practicalities in 
getting children to childcare 

 

 

 

P
age 18



P
age 19



So how are partners tackling getting troubled 

families into employment? 

• Its hard! 

 

• We have used a three pronged approach: 

– Focussed FIP style interventions for employment 

– Future jobs fund style 6 month job placements 

– Working closely with JCP on employment advice for individual 

families  

 

• But we have achieved some success  

– 884 families out of 910 identified; 

– 389 turned around; we expect to add approximately 100 more claims to 

that figure during the next window (April/May); 

– 42 work claims to date (expect to be at 65 in next claim window) 

P
age 20



FIP for work intervention: The Family Budgets 

project  

• Small team of ‘key workers’ working with families in which no family 

members were in work 

 

• Addressed underlying barriers to employment, such as mental or 

physical health problems, low confidence, lack of motivation, drug 

and alcohol misuse, and poor family dynamics 

 

• Tested a ‘family budget’ model with access to a discretionary budget 

of up to £1,000 to address barriers to employment.  

 

• The key workers spent extensive time with families to help them to 

take ownership over their journey to employment.   

P
age 21



What went well…. 

The £1000 ‘family budget’ 

 

• Provided flexibility in the help provided,  

• improved feelings of control for the family and individuals ie the individual 
had a stake and a say in their pathways.  

 

Whole family support 

 

• The family budget approach built on and developed existing ‘family centred’ 
approaches for families with complex needs in Lewisham, such as the 
Family Intervention Project, the Targeted Family Support service, and the 
Youth Offending Service.  

 

Sustainable employment – providing in-work support 

 

• The job entry dropout rate was originally predicted at 12%, but the current 
rate is at 5%.   

• This demonstrates the benefits of providing ongoing in-work support after a 
client found employment to help them sustain employment. 

P
age 22



Lessons learnt: Where the problems were 

The referrals process 

 

• Jobcentre Plus was the referral point and it didn’t work well- advisor lack of 
awareness, code not on the computer, issues in advisor knowing enough 
about the claimant to refer with confidence. As increased pressure was 
placed to get referrals, the number of unsuitable ones rocketed. 

 

Lesson: get the referral mechanisms right and with employment a degree of 
conditionality is often necessary 

 

The difficulty in translating a referral to an attachment 

 

• Took 6–8 weeks and 50% didn’t attach 

 

Lesson: that this work is absolutely necessary and needs to be factored into the 
programme 

P
age 23



On the demand side: we have 25 supported 

work placements to move people into  

• The Families into Work project - 60 referrals since launching fully in March 
2013.  

 

• Of those, 30 were screened and assessed to be not ready for work, with the 
other 30 invited for an initial pre-meet.  

 

• 10 did not turn up, and 16 of the remaining 20 were sent to the interview 
stage with employers. All 16 were offered employment; 4 turned down the 
offer of employment) and the other 12 have started work. 

 

• Of the 60 referrals, only 4 have been male – and 3 of those 4 have 
progressed all the way through to secure employment.  

 

• To date, 5 individuals have been claimed for as full Work claims, and 7 are 
on track for subsequent claims.  

  

• The project has picked up pace in the second year - its target was to deliver 
25 placements by the end of the programme (April 2015), and that will 
require the 7 currently in progression to be sustained and accompanied by a 
further 13 placements.  

P
age 24



The South London “tri-borough” 

We want all our residents, particularly those with the most 

complex needs, get the right intervention at the right 

time from universal credit through to work supported by 

skills and training that meets local and London labour 

market needs 

This UC and TF learning is being used in the Lambeth  

Lewisham and Southwark Community Budget on work  

and skills 

P
age 25



Where we are on building a three Borough/ 

partner case 

Three workstreams: 

– ‘front-end’ for universal credit- the single referral point, triage and 

assessment 

– Employability and skills, individualised pathways and whole 

population skills and training 

– Pathways into employment for the most complex cases- a 

cohesive single pathway across partner agencies building on key 

worker, navigator etc 

 

• We have developed our ‘as is’ analysis and are working on co-

designing ‘to be’ pathways  

 

P
age 26



Emerging ideas for a new system 

P
age 27



Supporting those with complex 

needs into work 

Lewisham’s work on Universal credit pilot, troubled 

families, and our community budget proposals 

across Lambeth Lewisham and Southwark 

P
age 28



 1

 
 
Governance & Resources Scrutiny Commission 
 
10th November 2014 
 
Policy Update on Long Term Unemployment 
 
 

 
Item No 

 

6 
 
OUTLINE 
 
Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission is embarking on a whole 
place review of public services in the Borough covering statutory public sector 
providers, voluntary sector and private sector.   
 
Attached are three documents: 
 
1. Sustainable Community Strategy Cross-cutting Review Worklessness 
2. Information on the segments of Hackney’s population on out of work 

benefits over the long term 
3. Presentation on LBH Cross-cutting Review of Worklessness. 
 
The Cross-cutting Review Report on Worklessness provides an in-depth 
analysis of long-term unemployment in the borough. The evidence to 
provides:  

Ø a clear, local picture of the barriers our residents face  
Ø a segmented view of the unemployed population and  
Ø insight into the service programmes that support employment.  
 
The Hidden Unemployment Report provides the headlines and detailed 
information on the hidden unemployment on incapacity benefit in Hackney. 
 
 
ACTION 
 
The Commission is asked to note the reports and presentation. 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sustainable Community Strategy 
Cross-cutting Review 
Worklessness 

 

Produced by Strategic Policy and Research 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 1 - 
 Page 31



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 

Introduction 

Hackney’s Sustainable Community Strategy recognises the significance of 
unemployment within the borough. In a changing policy environment with 
reduced resources and a need for improved results, there are benefits to an 
in-depth examination of the complexities of worklessness and the barriers 
confronting Hackney’s residents from entering the labour market.  

This Cross-cutting Review of Worklessness took place between October 2009 
and October 2010 with a small Steering Group to direct the research, review 
findings and agree the recommendations. It comprised: 

 Ian Ashman, Principal of Hackney Community College and co-chair of 
Team Hackney’s Economic Development Partnership 

 Cllr Guy Nicholson, cabinet member for Regeneration and co-chair of 
Team Hackney’s Economic Development Partnership 

 Tim Shields, Chief Executive, London Borough of Hackney 
 Mary Cannon, representative of the Community Empowerment 

Network 
 Kim Chaplain, Deputy Director, Employment and Skills, Host Boroughs 

Unit 

This review provides an in-depth analysis of long-term unemployment in the 
borough. We examine the evidence to provide  

 a clear, local picture of the barriers our residents face  

 a segmented view of the unemployed population and 

 insight into the service programmes that support employment.  

Based on our findings and an extended discussion across the Team Hackney 
Partnership, we present recommendations for new directions in the local 
worklessness agenda. 

The Sustainable Community Strategy sets out six priorities, the first is 

1. Reduce poverty by supporting residents into sustainable employment, 
and promoting employment opportunities. 

Of the set of 18 Outcomes in the Strategy, the following are directly related to 
employment:  

1. Substantially narrow the gap between Hackney’s employment rate and 
the London average. 

2. Increase employment for people in Hackney who are disabled or have 
a long-term health condition or mental health problems. 

3. Improve the earnings of people in Hackney to lift them out of poverty. 

4. Close the gap between the percentage of people in Hackney with no 
qualifications at all and the London average and increase the 
percentage of people of working age in Hackney who hold 
qualifications fit for the job market. 

- 2 - 
 Page 32



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

6. Ensure parents, families and carers are effectively supported to inspire 
their children to achieve wellbeing and reach their full potential in life, 
particularly families living in poverty 

14. To ensure that our town centres in Dalston and Hackney Central and 
our areas of growth in Shoreditch, Woodberry Down and Hackney Wick 
are vibrant places where local people and visitors choose to shop and 
spend leisure time, and make sure that these centres remain attractive 
places to do business and invest in. 

In support of the Community Strategy outcomes, our Local Area Agreement 
2008-11 included specific targets that the Council and its partners are still 
committed to working towards even with the discontinuation of the 
Agreements. Even with the end of LAAs, the targets are still relevant for 
demonstrating Hackney’s priorities. These targets focused on areas where 
strong progress will be required now if we are to meet the longer-term 
ambitions set out in the Community Strategy.  
 
LAA 2008-11 targets relating specifically to tackling worklessness include:  
 
Employment 
NI 151: Overall employment rate 
NI 153: Working age people claiming out of work benefits in the worst performing 

neighbourhoods 
NI 150: Adults in contact with secondary mental health services in employment 
 
Economic wellbeing (children and young people): 
NI 116: Proportion of children in poverty 
NI 117: 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, employment or training 
 
Skills and aspirations: 
NI 80: Achievement of a Level 3 qualification by the age of 19 
NI 110: Young people’s participation in positive activities 
NI 163: Working age population qualified to at least Level 2 or higher 
NI 13: Migrants’ English language skills and knowledge 
 
The LAA also included stretch targets relating to assisting young people (18-24), lone 
parents and those on long-term incapacity benefits into sustainable employment.  
 

The employment rate in Hackney has improved from a low of 53% in 2005 to 
the current rate (July 2010) of 69% now surpassing the London average. At 
the same time, the unemployment rate in Hackney has held steady near or 
above 10% for five years and the Job Seekers Allowance claimant rate is at 
the same level as it was in 2000.  

‘Workless’ basically means out-of-work for an extended period. It is used as 
an umbrella term to include both those who are unemployed and seeking 
work, and people who for one reason or another are unable or unwilling to 
undertake paid employment. It is also used to refer to households with at least 
one working age adult where no one works.  

Unemployment includes all people who are looking for a job, but are unable to 
find one. Economic inactivity, by contrast, refers to people of working age who 

- 3 - 
 Page 33



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

are neither unemployed nor in employment. It includes a large number of 
people claiming incapacity or severe disability benefits, as well as students 
and people who are looking after a home or family members, or retired.  

- 4 - 
 Page 34



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 1: Policy History and Background 

1.1 Current Unemployment Policy: 21st Century Welfare 

A series of changes in unemployment policy have occurred during the course 
of our research, including a change of government. At the time of writing, the 
Coalition has stated its intentions to overhaul the benefits system. A report 
issued in June 2010 demonstrated four possible models for the new structure. 
These range from universal provision of a single income replacement benefit 
for all claimants to a negative tax for qualified households, which would 
reduce as income increases.  

All of these programmes would be designed around the individual and 
promote the journey to work as the primary alternative. The goal of the benefit 
restructure is to reduce the number of programmes within the system and to 
discourage long-term dependency on benefits such that claimants view work 
as a viable and feasible alternative.  

DWP has defined a set of principles to guide the redesign1 

• ensure that people can see that the clear rewards from taking all types of 
work outweigh the risks 

• further incentivise and encourage households and families to move into work 
and to increase the amount of work they do, by improving the rewards from 
work at low earnings, and helping them keep more of their earnings as they 
work harder 

• increase fairness between different groups of benefit recipients and between 
recipients and the taxpayer; 

• continue to support those most in need and reduce the numbers of workless 
households and children in poverty and ensure that interactions with other 
systems of support for basic needs are considered; 

• promote responsibility and positive behaviour, doing more to reward saving, 
strengthening the family and, in tandem with improving incentives, reinforcing 
conditionality; 

• automate processes and maximise self-service, to reduce the scope for 
fraud, error and overpayments. This could include a responsive and 
immediate service that saves the taxpayer significant amounts of money and 
ensures compliance costs for employers, at worst, no worse than under the 
current system; and 

• ensure that the benefits and Tax Credits system is affordable in the short 
and longer term. 

At this point, the Government hopes through these reforms to increase the 
incentives for work, maintain a focus on those with low incomes ensuring they 
continue to receive the support they require as they transition back to work, 
and to simplify benefit programmes.  

Job Centre Plus also anticipates a change in the way employment 
programmes are implemented. The delivery of the Single Work Programme 

                                                 
1 Department of Work and Pensions, (2010). 21st Century Welfare (Consultation Document),  London : 
HMSO.  

- 5 - 
 Page 35



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

will supply a single, personalised welfare-to-work programme for all client 
groups that is contracted out entirely to a series of prime agencies. A key 
difference in implementation will be payments, at this point programmes will 
have differential prices based on different customer groups and payments will 
be based on client sustainability results, sometimes up to two years in work.  

The programme will offer a broad range of work readiness activities and could 
possibly include entrepreneurship training, volunteer opportunities and 
community work clubs. This last component supports jobseekers return to 
work through groups that share experiences, exchange skills and provide 
opportunities for making contacts. A special youth project plans to place 
young people with a sole trader for six months work experience, add 
additional apprenticeships each year, 100,000 additional Further Education 
college places and concentrate new technical schools in the 12 largest urban 
areas.  

Starting October 2010, all Employment Support Allowance (ESA) and 
Incapacity Benefit (IB) claimants will go through a new Work Capability 
Assessment. These questionnaires and exams establish the health-related 
support client will need. The changes to the IB programme and eligibility 
criteria will begin in March 2011 with the majority of Incapacity Benefit 
customers starting assessments in Jan 2011 with a full programme rollover by 
April 2014.  

The purpose of the programme restructure is to reduce the hidden 
worklessness in the UK that immobilises the economic potential within IB 
claimants. The underlying principle is based on the understanding that 
appropriate work is beneficial for physical and mental health and overall well-
being. 

In November 2010, a new white paper was released to explain the Coalition 
Government’s intention to create a Universal Credit. The reform will provide a 
single benefit for basic allowance with additional elements for children, 
disability, housing and caring. Designed to support people both in and out of 
work the Universal Credit replaces Working Tax Credit, Child Tax Credit, 
Housing Benefit, Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance and Employment 
and Support Allowance. 

The new system will be streamlined both in its framework and in the electronic 
payment service regulating calculation and administration of benefit. One 
major focus within the reform is the conditionality that will be imposed. The 
claimant commitment will expect recipients to undertake some sort of work 
related activity. Depending on circumstances, this could include full job 
searches to work preparation or work focused interviews with an employment 
advisor.  

Key for local authorities is the potential sanctions that will follow if the 
commitment to look for work is not upheld. Benefits will be halted if a claimant 
fails to participate in the appropriate work related activity. Compliance failure 
includes not accepting a job, actively looking for work, attending work focused 
interviews or attending employment related programmes. There may be a 
hardship fund available to fill gap temporarily. The paper also mentions this 
could be in the form of a loan not a payment. Claimants with no recent history 

- 6 - 
 Page 36



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

of work or employment behaviour may be at particular risk. This will be 
especially true for any one claiming benefit for mental or emotional illness.  

1.2 New Deals, Pathways and Tackling Worklessness 

From 1997-2008, the government’s main policy tool to support unemployed 
people into work was the New Deal programme, which targeted various 
specific groups with personalised packages of interventions. These 
programmes helped over 1.8 million people into work and were accompanied 
by an important administrative innovation: the merger of the major 
employment agency (Job Centre) and the benefits agency (under the former 
Department for Social Security) into Jobcentre Plus. The aim was not only to 
reduce costs but also to facilitate the government’s increasing emphasis on 
linking benefit entitlements with various forms of work-related conditionality to 
encourage more benefit claimants to move into paid work.2  

Between 2001 and 2003, the focus of government policy was concentrated 
primarily on the economically inactive. The New Deal for Disabled People and 
the Pathways to Work programme were designed to help Incapacity Benefit 
claimants move into paid work. By October 2008, the introduction of the 
Employment Support Allowance (ESA) and the accompanying reforms to 
Incapacity Benefit and Income Support built on the findings of the Pathways 
pilots, which demonstrated the effectiveness of personalised advice and 
support in helping IB claimants who would not otherwise have moved into 
work. 

Responsibility for implementing the welfare reform agenda and for tackling 
worklessness on the ground continued to be largely with employment service 
providers and economic development partners. While local government was 
increasingly expected to play a key strategic role in tackling worklessness in 
their areas, the funding behind this enhanced responsibility is a drop in the 
ocean compared to that provided to major service providers such as 
Jobcentre Plus.  

In fact, a report looking at the role of local authorities and their partners in 
tackling worklessness through Neighbourhood Renewal funding concluded 
that even if all area-based funding was geared towards meeting employment 
targets,  

“the level of funding available is insufficient to generate significant 
improvements in overall employment rates; improvements which are 
made can be masked by other changes. Expecting highly 
disadvantaged boroughs to deliver convergence with national averages 
within the funding available is wholly unrealistic.” 3 

The report goes on to say,  

                                                 
2 Bewley, H.,  Dorsett, R., and Haile, G (2007). The impact of Pathways to Work. (Research Report 
No.435)  London:  Department of Work and Pensions  
3 Association of London Government, Greater London Enterprise Group, Greater London Authority, 
(2005). Local Strategic Partnerships Tackling Worklessness. London Councils:  London.  

- 7 - 
 Page 37



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

“moreover, given that the improvements boroughs can generate are so 
limited, it is almost impossible to isolate or safeguard their impact 
against regional economic trends or local shocks to the economy which 
could throw hundreds or even thousands of people out of work… 
Percentage improvement to employment at borough level can therefore 
be understood an inappropriate measure...”4  

Literature suggests then that local government’s role is better served in 
employment support rather than in employment programme delivery. The 
evidence demonstrates advantages in intervening where broader integrated 
public service responses are required to address barriers to work such as 
childcare provision, advice services, or debt counselling.  

Various policy documents suggested local authorities could undertake the 
following roles in reducing worklessness: 

 Continuing to fill gaps in mainstream provision to reach the long-term 
workless.5  

 Joining-up services such as health, housing and employment at a local 
level  

 Leading and coordinating local action through the LSP and building 
effective partnerships with major providers6 

 Working with employment and skills providers such as Jobcentre Plus 
and the Learning and Skills Council, as well as other private and 
voluntary sector partners, to achieve LAA targets, coordinate 
employment and skills services and reduce duplication between 
employment services providers7 

 Leading on the development of a local approach to addressing child 
poverty (across all service areas and partners) to improve the life 
chances of Hackney’s children and help to combat inter-generational 
worklessness and deprivation 

 Taking forward the recommendations of Dame Carol Black’s recent 
review of the health of Britain’s working age population to ensure early 
intervention in sick leave to reduce the number of people who lose their 
jobs due to ill-health.8 

 Working in partnership with GPs and other health professionals to help 
tackle the problem of sickness management.9  

 Helping people to see that the trade offs of work are worth it as 
mothers, the disabled and long-term sick, and those who come from 

                                                 
4 ibid, p 33  
5 Greater London Enterprise Group (2008). Going to Work: How councils are joining up services to 
increase employment and skills. London Councils:  London.  
6 HM Treasury, Department of Work and Pensions and Department of Schools, Children and Families 
(2008), Ending Child Poverty: Everybody's business, HMSO: London 
7 Greater London Enterprise Group, (2008). Going to Work: How councils are joining up services to 
increase employment and skills. London Councils:  London.  
8 Black C,  (2008). Working for a healthier tomorrow. London: HMSO: London  
9 Kemp, PA, Davidson J, (2008) Routes onto Incapacity Benefit: Findings from a follow-up survey of 
recent claimants, (Research Report No 516). Department of Work and Pensions: London. 

- 8 - 
 Page 38



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

families with long histories of worklessness have been proven to 
benefit substantially by being in work for health, emotional and social 
reasons.10 

After a decade of intense focus on employment policy, Government moved 
from a focus on whole scale employment support to policies designed to 
reduce dependency on government support all together.     

In 2007, the LDA published a report specific to London’s worklessness 
problem11. With the highest unemployment rates in the country, and 6 out of 7 
workless residents with qualifications below level 4, and a constant stream of 
migrant labour, London’s situation is uniquely complex. 

The report found London’s specific problems to include: 

 The majority of jobs available in London are highly skilled whereas the 
unemployed population very low skilled 

 The vast diversity of London’s unemployed population renders large 
scale programmes ineffective 

 Interventions have been particularly unsuccessful with minority 
residents (the very group with high unemployment rates) 

 Factors specific to London are also acute 

o wage rates for less skilled work are low once housing costs are 
taken into account 

o childcare is less readily available and is expensive 

o part-time work is relatively scarce, especially in inner London 
where worklessness is concentrated. 

o the effectiveness of personal advisors is very important to 
success and London has a high turnover of Job Centre Plus 
advisors 

In terms of solutions, recommendations were consistent with national policy, 
encouraging job search assistance as the most effective intervention. For 
disadvantaged groups, which are more prevalent in London, intensive training 
may be a better start rather than immediate job search activity. A key 
suggestion for disadvantaged groups was subsidised employment 
placements. The strong reminder for programme design for these populations 
is the fact how effective interventions tend to be expensive, longer term and 
tailored; pointing out “what is clear is that if provision does not address the 
particular needs of the individual receiving it, it is unlikely to make a 
difference.”  

1.3 Barriers to Work 

The benefits of tailored and specific programming for individuals reached a 
national consensus through the New Deal programmes. Through these 
programmes, better understanding individual needs has led to an interest in 

                                                 
10 DWP (2007) In work better off: Next Steps to Full Employment. TSO: London. 
11 Meadows P. (2007) What works with tackling worklessness. London: London Development Agency 
and GLA Economics 

- 9 - 
 Page 39



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

better understanding the individual barriers people face rather than applying 
generic unemployment interventions.  

In 2007, David Freud issued a series of recommendations that focused on 
revising the benefits system through concentrating more on the barriers to 
work rather than the benefits a client received, delinking the type of support 
from the type of benefit. Recommendations included 

 Moving the client from Job Centre Plus provision to a private or third 
sector scheme that matched their support needs through intensive 
case management and individual, tailored help. A key aspect of this 
would include outcomes based performance pay rather than lump sum 
advanced funding, and higher rewards to harder to help clients. A 
report from a personal adviser detailing specific barriers would 
accompany the transfer of the client to the private or third sector.  

 Increased expectation of work and work based activity from the start of 
assistance with frequent appointments and personalised advice and 
guidance.  

 Move to a single system of benefits reducing the complexity of the 
system.  

The Freud research highlighted the fact that client perceptions of benefit 
eligibility and complexity acted as a barrier to work. This was especially true 
for housing and council tax benefit. DWP surveys returned a lack of 
awareness that these could be retained in-work and the concern over the loss 
of housing benefit was a major barrier. The report pointed out that it was 
wrong to assume housing tenure was a direct cause of worklessness. Instead, 
the severity of the needs of social housing tenants combined with fear of 
benefit loss lowers the rate of employment within this tenure.  

Freud also found that a series of factors contributed to the likelihood specific 
groups would be on benefit. Minorities have a much lower rate of employment 
than the White population. Single parents and disabled people all have higher 
rates of the working age population on benefit than average.  The complex 
service needs of certain groups acted as a major barrier.  

Drug or alcohol misusers, refugees or homeless clients are more likely to be 
workless for extended periods and will need specific treatment within a new 
conditionality regime. Ex-offenders, were also named as a special group. The 
report stated, “around 100,000 people come out of prison and go onto benefit 
each year, with only 20-30% of these finding work.”12 It is important to note 
that not all of the barriers these groups face are in their control, often the 
largest block to employment is employer attitudes and perceptions of these 
populations.  

Working through these barriers required a more sophisticated approach to 
employment programmes. At the same time, the cost of individualised 
programming underlines the need to ensure a higher success rate and more 
people into work at the end. The 2008 Gregg Report discussed the impact of 
possibly strengthening conditionality for out-of-work benefits as Freud 

                                                 
12  Freud, David, “Reducing dependency, increasing opportunity: options for the future of welfare to 
work, DWP, 2007 

- 10 - 
 Page 40



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

suggested. 13 Conditionality is the “principle that entitlement to benefits should 
be dependent on satisfying certain conditions”. The report highlights the most 
common forms of conditionality within the current system: 

 Fill out forms and provide accurate and up-to-date information on their    
status, income and household situation; 

 Attend assessments that judge capacity for work or level of disability 

 Undertake work-related activity such as attending interviews, taking 
part in a training programme, undertaking job search or applying for 
jobs. 14 

In order to make these conditions effective and useful for moving people into 
work it is imperative to have an appreciation of their starting point. A better 
analysis of their status can ensure a more precise plan for their journey back 
to work. Gregg identifies the following stages of readiness: 

A ‘Work-Ready’ group for people who are immediately job-ready. The 
personalised regime is akin to the current Jobseeker’s Allowance regime. The 
regime should be largely rules-based and self-directed with standard job 
search requirements. As part of further personalisation, there should also be 
steps to:  
 Speed up access to the more personalised parts of the JSA regime for 

harder to help groups; and  
 Improve support for people on JSA with a health condition or disability.  

A ‘Progression to Work’ group aimed at those where an immediate return 
to work is not appropriate but is a genuine possibility with time, 
encouragement and support, and where the conditionality will:  
 Reflect the claimant’s co-ownership of the return to work process;  
 Be tailored to their capability and built around their circumstances;  
 Be based on activity that supports the claimant‘s own route back to 

work; and  
 Link up with effective support.  

A ‘No Conditionality’ group that involves no conditionality requirements 
whatsoever. This would consist of the current Employment and Support 
Allowance (ESA) support group, lone parents and partners with a youngest 
child under the age of one, and certain carers. 

For the most part, the Gregg Report reduces barriers to work for the long-term 
unemployed to two key issues, lack of work experience and employers’ 
reluctance to hire the unemployed. Before the New Deal programmes, 
employment support interventions for claimants were categorised by their type 
of benefit and not claimants’ service needs. As the awareness of this has 
improved, programmes are increasingly designed to take account of the 
preconditions for work as point for employment programmes.  

While the Single Work Programme will be designed for individual needs and 
pathways, an important change is the push for even more conditionality within 

                                                 
13 Gregg, P 2008). Realising potential: A vision for personalised conditionality and support. London: 
Department of Work and Pensions 
 

- 11 - 
 Page 41



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

unemployment programmes. Even the long-term unemployed and those with 
health conditions will be expected to take part in some sort of work 
programme. They will be assessed via a Work Capability Assessment and 
referred to the appropriate programme. 

1.4 Applied Personalisation 

Personalised or individualised employment assistance can look very 
differently when translated from policy to implementation. The first step is to 
gain sufficient insight into the initial needs of different segments of the 
population. One outgrowth of individual pathways has been integrated 
programmes where services and auxiliary projects are linked for a 
comprehensive package of support. The services follow the need, once 
diagnosed, an service links should define the path.  

Using the rough categories of the Gregg Review, Job Centre Plus has 
developed a traffic light system for clients. One example of this is the  detailed 
list of pre-conditions for employment used by Making the Connection (MTC), 
the Nottinghamshire and North East Derbyshire Local Employment 
Partnership programme.  

The programme links the local workforce to businesses and encourages staff 
development and progression for local people in need of employment. They 
also manage training events and recruitment activities to make sure that local 
people benefit from inward investment and employment opportunities. MTC 
aims to simultaneously accommodate the workforce needs of employers and 
to maximise opportunities for local communities. 

The aim is to create a seamless service that matches labour market demand 
and supply within Nottinghamshire and North East Derbyshire. MTC ensures 
the communities within Nottinghamshire and North East Derbyshire, 
particularly those most disadvantaged, have the access to the support and 
training and employment opportunities presented at key strategic sites. This 
approach links the demand for skills of both existing employers looking to 
expand their workforce and investors looking to locate or relocate in the area. 

As the partnership matured they realised they needed a better way to sort 
those closest to and furthest from the labour market to fine tune their 
programming and maximise the chances of large incoming companies hiring 
local people. They developed the following multi-stage definition of “job ready” 
based on a simple traffic light scale of red, amber and green. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 12 - 
 Page 42



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 
Figure 1 Making the Connection Stages of Job-ready 
 
 
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
           
 
 

RED
 Very clear combination of multiple barriers to work
 Basic/life skills need to be addressed
 Poor/fragmented work history
 Demonstrates no clear motivation towards work or seeking work 
 Lack of awareness of own skills and abilities
 Lack of knowledge of support available
 Lack of self-confidence
AMBER
• Completed most elements of provider’s employability programmes
• Some issues with literacy and numeracy
• Transferable skills evidenced by a current, relevant CV
• Commitment to look for work and evidence of this
• May have a residual barrier to work but is working with provider to find solutions
• Participating in focussed pre-recruitment activity 
• Small skills gap (or lower level qualification) that can easily be addressed 
• Has had an advice and guidance session and is linked to an advisor
GREEN
• Shows motivation and commitment through 100% attendance at recent appointments 
• No identified literacy or numeracy issues
• Understands and demonstrates the importance of punctuality 
• Has attended interview skills training or a mock interview
• Shows confidence and self-esteem and is well-presented
• Understands in-work etiquette
• Has interview clothes and can access support to attend interviews

This level of categorisation triggers a series of programmes that are brought 
together to handle the non-employment related services required to stabilise 
benefit claimants and move them toward work. The basket of barriers will 
determine the design of the work plan. This level of personalisation then 
trickles into the work of providers at the front line.  

Similarly, the East London Pathways to Work project, provided by Ingeus 
(formerly known as Work Directions), aligns support services with 
employment training. Their programme includes a broad understanding of 
barriers.  

Each client begins with a diagnostic interview examining the client from a 
holistic approach. The first interview is with an employment advisor or, where 
appropriate, the employment advisor plus a physiotherapist and a 
psychotherapist.  Caring obligations, housing, health and support network, 
symptoms and debt are all considered in appreciating the clients start 
position. They find that lone parents have particular problems with deskilling, 
motivation, self-confidence.  The programme design can be demonstrated 
through the following diagram. 

 
 
 
 
 

- 13 - 
 Page 43



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 
Figure 2: Ingeus Holistic Client Analysis 
 

        
Hackney’s own City Strategy Pathfinder (CSP), Ways into Work, incorporates 
some of these barriers in the programme design. The worklessness model 
identified a cluster of barriers faced by long-term residents who were 
unemployed. Recognizing that work is a secondary condition, the Ways into 
Work programme in its pilot phase targeted the following barriers to work: 
 

 Poor employability skills and a lack of job specific skills; 
 ESOL and Skills for Life needs (numeracy and literacy); 
 Low levels of confidence and motivational issues; 
 Lack of knowledge of, and ability to access, support and training 

opportunities; 
 Attitudinal barriers and a culture of worklessness; and 
 Lack of formal qualifications. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 14 - 
 Page 44



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Figure 3: Team Hackney Worklessness Model 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Hackney’s Worklessness Interventions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

y
Outreach and engagement

•Door knocking / presence at events / physical bases
Industry based tasters
Referrals

Skills for Life
• Embedded literacy & numeracy 
 ESOL

Work placements
•Tasters
Longer term placements
Capacity building with employers / 
work placement providers

The model is based on the idea that individuals receive an integrated package 
of support tailored to their individual needs. This includes training and skills 
provision, including skills for life, employability and sector specific skills for 
industry, as well as work placements and services such as childcare, health 
and debt advice that can help to remove some of the barriers people face to 
employment.  

These advances in personalisation demonstrate substantial appreciation of 
the complexity of the needs of the out-of-work population. However, we 
believe there are a series of major contributors to worklessness that underlie 
these specific barriers to work. Our research indicates that each of the 
barriers a client faces are also influenced by the structural characteristics 
linked to the social identity, environment and culture in which a claimant 
exists. These are not insurmountable; however, for real success employment 
programmes will need to evaluate generic barriers in light of the historical and 
social environment in which the client exists. 

Employability
•Team working
Punctuality 
Interpersonal skills
Confidence building
Health and safety




Sector specific skills for 
industry
•E.g. Customer services

Progression 

Higher level skills
Employment / Job Brokerage
•Package of in-work support to 
help retention and progression

AND

AND

Other barriers
•Childcare
Debt
Health 

- 15 - 
 Page 45



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 2: Segmentation and Uncovering the 
Unemployed  

The last section demonstrated how local authority unemployment 
programmes are expensive and extensive. Since they add to pre-existing 
schemes by Central Government, adding extra value is imperative for local 
programmes. We maintain that the best way for this to occur is through 
precise targeting of populations who need extra support.  

An exploration of the characteristics of Hackney’s workless population creates 
an evidence base for efficient targeting and effective program development. 
As the funding climate contracts over the next few years, every pound spend 
must be maximised, this becomes even more urgent as benefit conditionality 
becomes more strict and more people are ineligible.  

This initial analysis begins with an overview of the spatial concentrations of 
worklessness in Hackney as reported through the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation. We also profile the aggregate picture of worklessness in Hackney 
to gain a clear understanding of the magnitude of the problem. Our analysis 
continues with an objective breakdown of the social identities of the workless 
population, which is often a first level constraint to work for women with small 
children, males experiencing structural unemployment, or young people. We 
explore how the interactions between identity factors such as ethnicity, age 
and gender reveal particular patterns of barriers to labour force participation. 

Identity segmentation provides a basic test of difference in outcome for 
particular groups, but also can establish a foundation for a more complex 
analysis moving forward. This is important because projects that build 
confidence in men will be of a different specification than those that increase 
self-esteem in women. This also changes based on the ethnicity or country of 
origin of a beneficiary. Equally, qualifications programmes for older people 
who are long-term unemployed will have a different emphasis than those for 
young people. Some segments will require multiple interventions such as 
those that begin with emotional or mental health counselling, the category the 
Gregg Report refers to as ‘Progression to Work’. 

The final discussion in this section compares this objective analysis to 
regional and national statistics for context. We also explore the barriers to 
work in Hackney, which aligns the data with the qualitative experience as 
reported by residents. The full section amounts to a clear evidence base with 
which to provide recommendations for future policy action.  

 

 

 

- 16 - 
 Page 46



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

2.1 Income Deprivation 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation is made of seven domains including  

1. Income Deprivation  
2. Employment  
3. Education, Skills and Training  
4. Health Deprivation and Disability  
5. Barriers to Housing and Services  
6. Crime Domain  
7. Living Environment  

The IMD ranks data zones from 1 (most deprived) upwards to cover the 
32,482 statistical boundaries of Lower Super Output Areas of England. The 
ranking is based on a weighted combination of data within each of the 
domains. The Income Domain of the Index of Multiple Deprivation measures 
the proportion of the population experiencing income deprivation as defined 
by the percentage of residents qualifying for the following benefits: 

 Income Support  
 Job Seekers Allowance  
 Pension Credit  
 Working Families Tax Credit (households whose income is below 

60 per cent of median before housing) 
 Child Tax Credit (households whose income is below 60 per cent 

of median before housing) 
 National Asylum Support Service supported asylum seekers in 

receipt of subsistence only and accommodation support. 

In 2007, Hackney was the second most deprived borough in England. In 
terms of employment deprivation, 65% of Hackney was in the top quintile for 
employment deprivation nationally, and over a third of its Super Output Areas 
were within the top 10% most deprived areas in England. Although there will 
most likely not be a continuation of the IMD, the underlying characteristics 
within Hackney’s population have changed dramatically since 2007 and we 
would expect to see a correlated change in our IMD rankings. We would 
anticipate a more polarised picture where only areas of increased private 
tenure would have increased employment and decreased incidence of benefit 
dependency. In the map below, the darker the colour, the greater extent of 
deprivation.  

 

 

 

 

 

- 17 - 
 Page 47



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Figure 4: Employment Deprivation in Hackney  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 2007 

High rates of worklessness have a negative effect on economic development 
and the prosperity of the local area, meaning that there is a strong economic 
rationale for tackling worklessness. There are also a wide range of non-
economic reasons for wanting to tackle worklessness. Employment 
deprivation is one of the major causes of income poverty, along with low-pay, 
and it affects not only the individuals who are out-of-work but also their 
children and families. Worklessness is also closely linked to a range of other 
outcomes, including lower educational attainment, aspirations and outcomes 
for children living in workless households, ill-health and mental ill-health.  

- 18 - 
 Page 48



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Hackney has very high rates of child poverty, in 2007, almost 40% of 
Hackney’s Super Output Areas fell within the top 5% most deprived areas in 
England; more than two-thirds are within the 10% most deprived; and 90% of 
Hackney is in the top quintile for child poverty nationally. In six wards 
(Chatham, Dalston, Hackney Central, Haggerston, Hoxton and Wick), six out 
of seven Super Output Areas have levels of deprivation that are amongst the 
worst 10% in the country .  

Figure 5 shows income deprivation affecting children in Hackney. As with the 
Income deprivation map the darker the colour, the greater the extent of 
deprivation in that area. To illustrate the links between child poverty and 
employment deprivation, the areas of highest employment deprivation have 
been overlaid in blue. All but two of the areas with highest employment 
deprivation overlap with the areas of highest child poverty (in the top 10%). 
The map serves as a crude but nonetheless stark illustration of why 
employment has been identified as a key route out of poverty in Hackney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 19 - 
 Page 49



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Figure 5: Income Deprivation Affecting Children in Hackney  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 2007 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Source: Indices of Multiple Deprivation, 2007 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 20 - 
 Page 50



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

2.2 Population Characteristics and Segmentation 

The series of analyses that follow illustrate the differences between the 
working age population in Hackney and the proportion of people on Job 
Seekers Allowance, Incapacity Benefit, Lone Parent Benefit and Disability 
benefits. The comparisons are mapped over time between 2005-2009 or as a 
snapshot within one year depending on the ease of interpretation. 

We select the block of 2005-2009 because a permanent population shift is 
visible within the working age population. Not only does the total population 
grow substantially from 2005 to 2009, but also, the employed population also 
increases in this period reducing the overall percentage of population on 
benefit. In 1999, 36,630 residents claimed benefits in Hackney, representing 
28% of the working age population. By the beginning of 2005, this number 
reduced to 32,620 or 23% of the working age population. Even with the 2007-
2010 recession, the percentage never increased above this 23% indicating a 
permanent reduction in claimants.  

Claimants within the working age population are compared across the 
segments Gender, Age and Ethnicity and Combinations of these where 
data was available. The combinations of each variable consist of: 

 Gender and Age (i.e. men aged 34-45) 
 Gender and Ethnicity (i.e. Bangladeshi men) 
 Gender, Age and Ethnicity (i.e. White women, aged 18-24) 

Figure 6 illustrates the levels of segmentation and the layers of subsets within 
the total population.  
 
Figure 6 Segmentation Model A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 21 - 
 Page 51



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Another way of describing these comparisons is through the matrix in Figure 7 
below.  

Figure 7 Segmentation Model B 
 

Demographic 
1a 

Demographic 
1b 

 
 
 
 

Benefit 
Claimants 

Non Claimants 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are interested in two key measurements of the proportional representation 
of the claimant population: 

 
1. The proportion of a particular demographic on a benefit compared to the 

proportion of that same demographic in the working age population. 
 
2. The proportion of claimants from a particular demographic on an out-of- 

work benefit compared to another demographic on the same benefit.  
 
For example, measurement 1 would examine the proportion of working age 
women on Incapacity Benefit compared to all working age women. 
Measurement 2 considers the number of male JSA claimants and female 
claimants. Taken together we can calculate the level of over or under 
representation of a population segment on benefit.  

We calculate this figure by assuming that perfect equality of segment 
representation on a benefit would equal 1, or all claimants would be 
represented on the benefit in proportion to their representation in the total 
working age population. The distance away from 1 indicates the extent to 
which a particular segment is over or under represented compared to their 
total in the working age population. This figure allows us to compare between 
segments to find the most overrepresented groups on a particular benefit.  As 
part of the assessment, we also consider the highest and lowest proportions 
within the segment set and the segments that have remained relatively stable 
over time, as well as major changes within each segment.  

As we will demonstrate, the combination of the segments narrows the level of 
overrepresentation to a particular age group, ethnicity and gender. As a 
means of normalising these comparisons, we have utilised the proportion of 
the total working age population within that segment to ensure the analysis is 
pegged to the most relevant subset of the population, thereby, creating a 
standardised comparison for percentages. This does influence the sample 

- 22 - 
 Page 52



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

sizes and it is important to know some percentages are incredibly small as a 
result. This may create problems for inferences across the total population 
from the segments and consequently it is better to stick with simple 
measurement and descriptive statistics when describing general conditions.  

The purpose of this analysis is to derive an indication of the strongest factor(s) 
contributing to a population’s over-representation on a particular benefit, or 
which population identity is consistently represented as the most common 
claimants on benefit. We want to know if the percentage of claimants is higher 
than their percentage of population that would signal a need for intervention.  

Different structural factors within the labour market affect different groups 
more strongly, for example, older workers have a harder time finding work 
after they have been unemployed for an extended period. Particular 
ethnicities suffer consistent high rates of unemployment historically. The 
growth in the economy has favoured occupations geared more toward one 
gender than the other. All of these are examples where knowing the 
characteristics of the population helps policymakers and programme 
designers better understand the determinants of worklessness and therefore 
the appropriate policy interventions.  

Our method for combining the various segments is straightforward. We rely on 
ONS figures throughout and; therefore, are confined to the available data. For 
this reason, the final combination of gender, age and ethnicity is restricted to 
Job Seeker’s Allowance (JSA) in November 2009 as ONS does not collect 
statistics on ethnicity for any other benefit.  

To begin the analysis, Table 1 demonstrates the most recent figures (Feb 
2005-Feb 2010) for the total number and percentages of the working age 
population on benefits. These figures contain the new revised ONS working 
age population. Central Government revised the range for the working age 
population for women from 16-59 to 16-64 in 2010. The changes to the 
percentage of the population on benefit are incremental but there is a visible 
increase in the total numbers from previous figures. 
  
Table 1 Benefit Claimants in Hackney February 2005-2010  
Absolute numbers and percentage of the working age population 

Date Total 
Job 

Seeker’s 
Allowance 

ESA and 
Incapacity 
Benefits 

Lone Parent Disabled 

February 2005 32,620 23% 6,800 5% 13,810 10% 7,810 5% 900 1%

February 2006 32,750 23% 7,480 5% 13,280 9% 7,720 5% 940 1%

February 2007 32,250 22% 7,570 5% 13,150 9% 7,560 5% 960 1%

February 2008 30,450 21% 6,210 4% 12,960 9% 7,170 5% 990 1%

February 2009 31,770 21% 8,150 5% 12,920 9% 6,570 4% 1,040 1%

February 
15 

32,760 22% 9,550 6% 13,360 9% 5,700 4% 1,140 1%
2010

 

                                                 
15 2009 mid-year population estimates are used for working age population estimate. 

- 23 - 
 Page 53



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Roughly 22% of the population in Hackney is claiming a key benefit. This total 
does not illustrate the figures for residents who claim multiple benefits. 
Although Hackney was experiencing a sharp decline in overall benefit 
claimants, the 2008 recession increased Job Seeker’s Allowance most 
significantly. Notably, there has been almost no change in the percentage of 
the population on Incapacity Benefit/ESA and a continuation of the declining 
trend in Lone Parent benefits. Interestingly, there is an increase for the first 
time in the population on Disability benefit. In 2010, the Coalition Government 
standardised the working age for women and men to 16-64 for both genders. 
Based on our analysis, increasing the total population on benefit has not had 
as large of an effect as labour market conditions such as the recession.  

We now move to breaking these figures down for identity. Originally, this 
analysis was conducted for the last quarter of data available at the time in 
2009, May 2009. This was before the working age was standardised for 
women and the mid-year population estimates for 2009 were available. We 
maintain this dataset for the Cross-cutting Review of Worklessness. As part of 
the Worklessness Assessment for the Local Economic Assessment, the first 
quarter of 2010 will be included and the dataset will be updated accordingly; 
however, we do not expect a major change in the findings over one quarter. 
Due to the relatively low levels of the population on disability benefit, this 
analysis does not consider the segmentation dynamics within this benefit with 
the exception of age.  

2.2.1 Segmentation 1: Gender 

The simplest comparison of benefit claimants is through an analysis of 
gender. The comparison of the distribution of men and women on different 
benefits immediately highlights a gender bias in the client loads. Graphs 1-3 
below examine Job Seekers Allowance (JSA), Incapacity Benefit and Lone 
Parent benefit claimants.  

As a comparison, there has been a major increase in the proportion of the 
male employment rate in Hackney, the gap in male employment between 
London and Hackney has been as wide as 15% in 2005. A significant 
increase in the male employment rate in Hackney between 2007 and 2008 
helped decrease this gap from 9% to 5%. By 2009, partially due to the 
recession in London, the gap was just 2% between male employment rates in 
Hackney and London.  

Women’s employment levels have also improved at phenomenal rates across 
the five years. In 2005, there was a 14% gap between Hackney’s female 
employment rate and London’s, 63% in London to 49% in Hackney. By 2009, 
female employment had exceeded London’s rate by nearly 4%.  

We would expect to see higher male benefit claimants due to their higher 
proportions of the labour force. Men and women were relatively equally 
distributed in the working age population with females slightly higher at 51% 
and males 49% in 2009.  However, over the past five years on average 9% 
more men have been employed in Hackney than women have. A similar 
higher percentage would be expected on benefits. Instead, we found men 
make up close to 70% of JSA benefit holders; they are overrepresented 

- 24 - 
 Page 54



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

compared to their numbers in the working age population by 40% during the 
5-year period.  

Incapacity Benefit manifests similar trends in Graph 2. The overall number of 
male claimants is higher than those on JSA in Graph 1 but the gender gap is 
narrower. Men make up close to 60% of the total number on benefit and are 
overrepresented within the claimant group by an inequality factor of 1.17 or 
17% more than their proportion within the working age population between 
2005-2009.  

As with men, women claim Incapacity Benefit in higher numbers than JSA. 
Their relative proportion on the benefit is 40% and they are underrepresented 
by a factor that is under 1 at .82. This compares to their underrepresentation 
on JSA which is much farther away from 1 at .59. This means women are 
underrepresented on both JSA and IB, but more so on JSA. The policy 
implications of this finding would be higher allocation to programmes that are 
geared towards men and the barriers to work they experience. 

Last, these graphs show steady levels of male and female claimants on JSA 
with a spike between November 2008 and November 2009 for both. Because 
this benefit applies to economically active or ready to work claimants, we can 
assume this increase is due to the 2008-2010 recession as the previous two 
years demonstrate a declining trend for men and an increase from constant 
levels for women.  

The dynamics among IB claimants show an incremental but steady decline for 
men year on year. The decline for women is less, dropping from 8% of the 
working age population to 7% over the 5 years.  

Our major finding is that the two primary employment benefits are consistently 
primarily composed of men, and by large margins.  

Graph 1 Gender: JSA Claimant Comparison 

JSA Claimants

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

% Female

% Male

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 25 - 
 Page 55



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 
 
Graph 2 Gender: Incapacity Benefit Claimant Comparison 

IB Claimants

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

% Female

% Male

 
 
Meanwhile, Lone Parent benefit claimants differs from both of these findings 
and demonstrates the primary source of women’s claimant rates in Hackney. 
Overall rates of Lone Parent benefit are declining, down by 4 percentage 
points, from a high of 12% in 2005 to 8% in 2009; this benefit still comprises 
95% women.  This compares with other benefits where women JSA claimants 
represent just 3% of the working age population and women IB claimants 
comprise 7% of the working age population.  

Women are overrepresented on Lone Parent benefit compared to their 
proportion of the working age population by 1.9, nearly double. This is not a 
startling finding considering we know that most lone parents are women; 
however, the measurement enables robust comparison between the levels of 
women on the other benefits.  

Graph 3 Gender: Lone Parent Claimant Comparison 

Lone Parent Benefit

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

% Female

% Male

 
 
 
 

- 26 - 
 Page 56



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Findings  
The male bias within JSA and IB could indicate structural barriers against 
male employment. With the decline of manufacturing and processing jobs in 
London, our research conducted initial investigations into the labour market 
conditions for males in Hackney and wider London. This analysis is discussed 
in the age segmentation below. 

Generally; however, the lack of desirable work could be a stronger, more 
persistent barrier than the lack of available work. Job Centre Plus (JCP) 
representatives have repeatedly stated in national literature and local 
discussions that men are choosier than women when they are applying for 
work. Not only do more women work part-time, but also they tend to cluster in 
lower paid service and care occupations. The services sector accounted for 
74% of male and 92% female employee jobs in 2008. At the same time, 1/5th 
of women are employed in administrative or secretarial work compared with 
4% of men. In 2009, sector descriptions of JCP vacancies show the highest 
offers in  

 retail, trade and repairs 
 real estate and business activity 
 health and social work 
 education 
 hotels and restaurants 

These are the types of positions women tend to choose, and they are easier 
to schedule for part-time work. Men on the other hand, are ten times more 
likely to be employed in skilled trades. JCP vacancies were consistently lower 
in construction by hundreds of thousands across the country from 2001-2009.  

At the same time, men are more likely to be self-employed than women. 
Nearly 75% of the 3.8 million self-employed people in 2008 were men, a 
similar figure since 1997. In 2008, 33% of men who were self-employed 
worked in the construction industry. In contrast, 24% of women who were self 
employed worked in public administration, education and health or 
community, social and personal services. 16 

If unemployment programmes have a placement supply bias toward womens’ 
preferred occupations, men do become more difficult to place and will tend to 
stay on benefits longer. 

                                                 
16 Office of National Statistics (2008). Labour Force Survey: Focus on Gender: Working Lives, 
Employment rates are higher for men. London: HMSO 

- 27 - 
 Page 57



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 2.2.2 Segmentation 2: Age  

Generational issues can also affect particular age groups. Some workers 
experienced a particular business cycle, which could have buoyed or 
depressed their career, such as young people in the current recession. 
Employment literature also discusses the structural changes in the UK 
economy that took place in the 1970s-80s. When analysing persistent 
unemployment, it is important to understand which structural fluctuations we 
need to consider and how they play out on different age groups. For example, 
the decline of manufacturing that began several decades ago only affects 
men who were working or training during those times.  

Another factor is first generation migrants with language and cultural barriers, 
which may accentuate issues such as self-esteem and could extend 
unemployment longer than their younger siblings or children born in Britain.  

We begin this section with JSA claimants. These are annual statistics taken 
from May each year 2005-2009. Ages are broken into ranges from 18-24s to 
10 year intervals between 25 and 64 (the last year of the working age.) 

Graph 4 Age: JSA Claimants 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

JSA Claimant Rate

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
Only examining age, Graph 4 shows the highest proportions of claimants are 
18-24.The next highest are the 45-54s although only slightly above the 35-
44s. While the 55-64s are consistently the lowest age group claiming JSA 
over the period, of the prime working age groups, the 25-34s are the lowest 
percentage of the working age population to claim across all years. In 2009, 
all benefits were up because of the recession with the 18-24s still at high 
rates, although not much higher than normal demonstrating a tough market 
for them regardless of economic conditions. The 25-34s experienced the 
highest rate of increase for the period. All other age groups rose in 2009 by an 
average of 2%.  
 

- 28 - 
 Page 58



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 5 Age: Incapacity Benefit  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

IB/ESA Claimant Rate

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
 
Graph 5 demonstrates the age trends of Incapacity Benefit claimants. When 
segmented only by age, the trends over the past five years indicate very little 
fluctuation. The most highly represented group is the 55-64 cohort, with the 
striking finding of a 15% difference between the 45-64 segments and those 
under 44 years old. There is a clear skew toward older age groups on this 
benefit. The stable nature of all age groups on this benefit demonstrates the 
policy trend of low conditionality. As mentioned above, this will change 
drastically over the next three years. 

Ingeus, have explained how only recently there has been an attitudinal shift 
within society towards work as rehabilitation, and they have highlighted the 
effects of this low level of conditionality.17 It has become widely accepted that 
work improves mental and emotional wellbeing. The 2006 Waddell and Burton 
study, “Is Work Good for your Health and Well-Being” found that work reduces 
mortality, psychological distress, medication consumption and hospital 
admission rates.18 They qualify their findings with the point that work must be 
safe and appropriate to the conditions of illness in the first place. The authors 
also caution that the process of getting back to work is just as important as 
the final job outcome. If the situation does not fit the client needs, setbacks 
and restarts can affect health just as strongly as unemployment.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
17 Interview with Jenny Ross and Becs Martin of Ingeus, October 2009 
18 Waddell, G and Burton, K (2006). Is Work Good for Your Health and Well-being? London: Department 
of Work and Pensions 

- 29 - 
 Page 59



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 6 Age: Lone Parent 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Lone Parent Benefit Claimant Rate Females

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-59

 
The most common ages on Lone Parent are not as might be expected. With 
the focus on teen pregnancy over the past few years, we expected higher 
rates of 18-24s but Hackney’s success in programmes such as Clued Up has 
helped to keep rates low and we can see this success demonstrated in the 
low claimant figures.  

The highest levels of claimants are the 35-44 age group and the 25-34. These 
are typical ages for maternity leave for women and while there is a slight 
decline for both age groups overtime, these figures overall are less 
concerning due to the specification of the benefit. These client groups are 
precisely who are supposed to be on this benefit and it is accomplishing the 
policy goal. ONS figures for 2008 found that the average for a mother’s first 
birth in the UK has risen to 28 and the largest increase in births per age is the 
over 35s. This benefit reflects these trends as women aged 35+ would still 
have young children or children in primary school.  

Findings 

This section shows the highest proportions of claimants are 18-24s.The next 
highest are the 45-54s although only slightly above the 35-44s. The 55-64s 
are consistently the lowest age group claiming JSA over the period. There is a 
clear skew toward older age groups on this Incapacity Benefit with a 15% 
difference between the 45-64 segments and those under 44 years old. An 
essential fact to note is this age group was not the typical “parked cohort” who 
held manufacturing jobs, as they were only 26-35 in 1981 when structural 
shifts in the labour market began across the UK. Especially in London, this 
would have been a viable age for retraining; something else is affecting this 
group. We will examine this further in another report.  

- 30 - 
 Page 60



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

2.2.3 Segmentation 3: Age and Gender 

The profile of claimants sharpens when we begin to add the segments 
together, further clarifying the characteristics of the population.  

Graph 7 Gender/Age: Males on JSA 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

JSA Claimant Rate Males

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
While 18-24s have the highest proportion of the working age group on benefit, 
this rate had been declining steadily before the recession. Graph 7 shows the 
next most common age on JSA is the 45-54, with this segment experiencing a 
large spike in 2006. These high rates were more or less steady until the 
recession when another spike is recorded in the data. The 25-44s reduced 
their proportions on JSA after 2005 and remained relatively low or reducing 
slightly until 2009. The 55-64 age group averaged 4.5% of the working age 
population on JSA over the 5 years, this is well below the total for the borough 
and below the averages of the other age groups.  

There is a clear trend of overrepresentation of some segments within all male 
benefit claimants. The 18-24s may have the highest proportions of the 
working age population on benefit and the highest rates of overrepresentation. 
They are on benefit at rates of over 3 times their numbers in the working age 
population. The 45-54s have a similarly high rate of overrepresentation on 
JSA; they are twice the number on JSA as they are in the working age 
population. The 25-44s are also overrepresented compared to their numbers 
in the working age population, but not as drastically as the other two 
segments. Taken together, males aged 18-54 are experiencing abnormally 
high rates of JSA benefit claimants in Hackney. However, this does not 
appear to be a problem with the 55-64 segment.  

Comparative figures with London provide further context for just how high 
Hackney’s male unemployment rate is across the segments. The London 
male claimant rate is higher than women’s but the gap is smaller than 
Hackney’s. The rates for men in London across the 25-64 age groups cluster 

- 31 - 
 Page 61



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

more closely together with only 1-2 percentage points difference. The rates for 
all three age groups average 4% of the working age population in London. 
Hackney’s rate for 45-54s is double this. Hackney’s JSA claimant rate for 18-
24s is the highest rate in London. 

Rates of female JSA claimants’ average only 3% of the female working age 
population in the past 5 years, a full 5 points lower than men’s representation 
on JSA and women’s representation on IB.  

Graph 8 Gender/Age: Females on JSA 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

JSA Claimant Rate Females

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-59

 
Graph 8 shows women 18-24 claim JSA at about 2% higher than the other 
age groups. Their 4-5% of the working age population is a higher rate than the 
average for working age women on JSA as a whole, and this group is 
overrepresented by 3 times their proportion of the working age population. 
Women aged 45-54 are the next highest segment on JSA, although they are 
only claiming at 3-4% of the working age population, they are overrepresented 
by over 2.5 times their numbers in the working age population. The 25-34s 
are the second highest proportion on JSA, but their percentage of the working 
age population is lower. This increases their overrepresentation to slightly 
higher than the 45-54s. 

Comparative figures with London reveal even lower rates for female claimants 
on JSA. The 18-24s are highest in the segment at an average of 3% over the 
5 years, this is 1% lower than Hackney. The rest of the age segments for 
female JSA claimants in London comprise 1-2% of the total female working 
age population, nearly insignificant compared to men. The absolute numbers 
of women on this benefit across London average around 7,000 each year 
while absolute numbers for men are three times this level at roughly 21,000 
each year.  

 
 
 

- 32 - 
 Page 62



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 9 Gender/Age Males on Incapacity Benefit 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

IB/ ESA Claimant Rate (Males)

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
 
When we introduce gender into the analysis of Incapacity Benefit in Graph 9, 
28% the working age population of men aged 55-64 become the most 
predominant segment on benefit. This segment is overrepresented by more 
than 5 times their proportion in the working age population. The benefit rate is 
clearly driven by this group, as these rates are 10% higher than the next age 
segment 45-54.  

Men aged 45-54 are claiming at a rate of 18% of the working age population. 
This segment’s over representation is nearly 4 times their proportion in the 
working age population. The next age segment, 35-44s are again claiming at 
a magnitude of 10% than the 45-54s. An average of 10% of the working age 
population of 35-44s are claiming Incapacity Benefit. The overrepresentation 
of this group is twice their proportion of the working age.  

Male claimant rates of Incapacity Benefit have not changed since 2006 when 
the 45-64s increased. Even with the introduction of Employment Support 
Allowance which has disallowed some claimants, the overall numbers remain 
steady.  

The importance of this analysis is to understand that these older males are 
driving the higher levels of IB in Hackney. With 13,000+ people on Incapacity 
Benefit, Hackney has held the highest numbers in London for nearly a 
decade. In London, the higher proportion of the working age population of 
men on IB holds, but not at the levels within Hackney. The highest rates are 
for men aged 55-64 and then 45-54, but the rates for men 55-64 in London 
are 12% less than those in Hackney, and for 45-54s are 5% lower.  

This finding is again very pertinent when considering policy interventions as 
new skills may be difficult for this set to obtain. Workers aged 55+ can face 
age discrimination in the work place and investing in new skills development 

- 33 - 
 Page 63



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

may not yield as much benefit as other groups due employer preferences.19 
Also, different groups display different levels of health conditions and segment 
specific treatment has been demonstrated to be more effective.20  

Graph 10 Gender/Age: Female on Incapacity Benefit  

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

IB / ESA Claimant Rate (Females)

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-59

 
 

As we discussed in the section on gender, the total claimant population is 
lower for women as a whole on IB; however, there are some segments clearly 
overrepresented within the distribution of age. In Graph 10, the first thing to 
note is the relative stability of women on IB, each of the lines above 
demonstrates hardly any dynamics over the five-year period. In May 2008-
2009, 56% of all female IB claimants were in the 45-59 age groups, yet they 
only represent 4% of the working age population, these very small numbers 
yield an overrepresentation of 13 times their proportion of the population. 
These groups are on IB at rates of more than 10%, and sometimes 20%, of 
the working age population of women.  

Hackney has similar proportions of women 18-34 on IB as London. The major 
differences show up for women 35-44 where Hackney is 3% above the 
London average. For the 45-54s, London rates average 10% of this 
segment’s population and for 55-59, 15%, this compares to Hackney’s 25%. 
The borough is 7-10% higher than London rates for female IB claimants 
between 45-59. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
19 Taylor, P and Walker, A "Age Discrimination in the Labour Market and Policy Responses: The 
Situation in the United Kingdom," The International Association for the Study of Insurance Economics, 
vol. 28(4), pages 612-624, October 2003 
20 Newbigging, K,  McKeown,M,  Hunkins-Hutchinson, E  and French, B, Mtetezi “Developing Mental 
Health Advocacy with African and Caribbean Men”, SCIE Knowledge Review, London, June 2007 

- 34 - 
 Page 64



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 11 Gender/Age: Females on Lone Parent 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Lone Parent Benefit Claimant Rate (Females)

Under 25

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-59

 
 
There is almost no difference between Graph 6 and Graph 11 as the age 
groups do not fluctuate with the addition of gender considering women drive 
the benefit. As explained above, Lone Parent benefit is comprised almost 
entirely of women. In Hackney, 95% of the benefit claimants are female. In 
London, the number is nearly 99%. This could indicate that Hackney has 
better take-up rates for men on this benefit than London as a whole. Because 
of these findings, we will only consider the dynamics within women’s age 
segments. 

The majority of women on this benefit are in the 25-34 age segment and 35-
44--the largest age group. Together these age groups represent 72% of Lone 
Parent claimants, considering this is prime child rearing age, these women will 
require flexible work if they return to work during these years. This group is 
the only group overrepresented as a proportion of their total working age 
population, and these women outnumber their proportion of the population by 
50%.  

The steady presence of 45-54 year olds is a concern; however, and new 
benefit conditionality that began under the Labour Government has been 
slowly changing the age at which parent’s are expected to return to work. 
Even though the rates for this age segment are 7% lower than ages 25-44, 
the claimant rates do not change over the 5-year period. The two most 
common benefits for this age group of women are IB and Lone Parent, the 
two benefit systems scheduled for radical reform over the next 3-5 years. The 
45-54s have a similar retraining problem as the males of this age, although 
those under 50 should do better. 

In London, the 2010 lone parent employment rate is 56%. Fifty-eight percent 
of children in non-working lone parent families live in poverty, compared to 
19% of children of lone parents working part-time and 7% of those working 

- 35 - 
 Page 65



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

full-time.From 2006, several studies explored the possibility of changing work 
requirements for parents. The November 2006 Harker report, ‘Delivering on 
Child Poverty: what would it take?’ explained that the UK’s light touch for lone 
parents was anomalous compared to most countries. Repeatedly the report 
suggested adequate childcare provision and more flexible hours.21  The Freud 
Report also recommended that Government reduce the age threshold from 
which lone parents can claim income support to 12. This recommendation 
was also linked to childcare provision.  

The 2007 DWP paper “Ready for work: full employment in our generation” 
announced phased changes annually reducing the age at which parents could 
claim a benefit solely based on their role as a parent. The eligibility age has 
since reduced every October from 12 to 10 to 7 this year. A major component 
of this new policy is childcare in all schools in England between 8am-6pm in 
term. Income support benefit has been discontinued and lone parents have 
been encouraged to move to Job Seeker’s Allowance. This will change again 
with the Single Work Programme. The Work Focused Interview will remain a 
key part of conditionality.  

The relevance of the policy changes is to underline how younger parents are 
not mirroring the experience of the 45-54s. Their rates are lower and 
decreasing. At the same time, the policy environment has changed such that 
they will not be allowed to linger on benefit as the ages before them have 
done. Neither of these developments speaks to the retraining and 
reconnection needs of the highest age group on benefit, however. Transitional 
arrangements once children are older and lone parents are no longer eligible 
for lone parent benefits are worth considering, as national trends show once 
lone parent benefits end, only 16 per cent of lone parents move straight into 
work of 16 hours per week or more, while 56 per cent moved onto JSA and 18 
per cent move onto ESA.22  
 
The two main age segments, 25-44, have reduced their claimants by 2%, 
although the gains for 25-34 occurred before 2009. Young women are not 
experiencing this decrease as their claimant numbers have remained steady 
over the 5-year period.  

Findings 
JSA and Lone Parent benefits prove to be more dynamic than IB with visible 
trends of flows off the benefit. For JSA, males 18-24 and 45-54 and females 
18-24 represent higher proportions on benefit than their working age 
population. On Lone Parent benefit, the 35-44 age group is the most 
overrepresented. The Lone Parent rates are less concerning considering 
many women will have more than one child at that age and the likelihood a 
mother will be out of work during this time is quite high. Meanwhile, the men 
aged 45-64 may need more support services to get them back to work and 
potentially a more intensive upskilling program. 
 
                                                 
21 Harker,L. (2006).  Delivering on Child Poverty: what would it take? London:: Department of Work and 
Pensions  
22 Casebourne, et al (2010) Lone Parent Obligations: destinations of lone parents after Income Support 
eligibility ends London: Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion on behalf of the Department for Work 
and Pensions 

- 36 - 
 Page 66



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

A key consideration from all of these findings would be further research and 
analysis of the occupations, which are experiencing a shortfall of employees 
such as service, care and teaching professions. A structural mismatch 
between available careers and occupational preferences based on gender 
identity has been known to facilitate long-term unemployment in certain 
groups. Job Centre Plus managers have repeatedly stated that men are more 
difficult to place due to their restrictive preferences. Background research also 
reveals that men with lower or no qualifications when they went onto benefits 
have tended to stay on benefit rather than retraining or looking for a new 
position.23  The wave of benefit reform will hit men of all ages and women 
aged 45-54 in Hackney the hardest; these are the important priority groups for 
policy support particularly for training and skills development.  
 
 
 
 

                                                 
23 

Rothorn, R, (2000) The Political Economy of Full Employment in Modern Britain”, (Working paper No. 164) 
University of Cambridge ESRC Centre for Business Research: Cambridge 

- 37 - 
 Page 67



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

2.2.4 Segmentation 4: Ethnicity 

Gender and age are two characteristics of the workless population. We can 
analyse the population further by one more dimension, ethnicity. This helps to 
pinpoint exactly which subsets within the working age population are 
experiencing overrepresentation.  

We focus mainly on JSA as there are no ethnicity statistics collected for 
Incapacity Benefit or Lone Parent benefit. In addition, small sample sizes of 
multiple ethnicity subsets of the working age population exaggerate and skew 
some rates upward. We use the dates for working age population statistics 
and benefit claimants each year between 2005-2007. As the population 
estimates have not been revised for 2008 and 2009, we use 2007 as a proxy 
for these years.  

JSA claimant rates are also used as one measure of the unemployment rate 
as it provides frequently updated information. Another measure is the 
International Labour Organisation’s definition of unemployment which includes 
those aged 16+ who are out of work, but actively seeking work. This is the 
common macroeconomic statistic reported derived through a survey. We use 
claimant rate as the unemployment rates reported below as it is possible to 
break down the claimant rate gender, age and ethnicity segments.  

Notably, many statistical reports do not breakdown segmentation analysis for 
combinations of gender, age and ethnicity or they do not take the analysis 
down to the lower ethnicity categories and our comparative analysis ends 
there. As we delve deeper into the combinations, we can only compare with 
the national and London descriptive statistics that are available.  

To begin, Graph 12 demonstrates the proportions of each ethnicity within the 
working age population for 2007.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 38 - 
 Page 68



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 12 Ethnicity of Working Age Population LBH 2007 

49%

12%

10%

8%

4%

3%

2%
2%

2%

2%

2%

1% 1%

1%

1%
1%

Working Age Population Ethnic Segments 2007
White-British

White-Other

Black British-African

Black British-Caribbean

Asian British-Indian

Asian British-Bangladeshi

White-Irish

Chinese or other ethnic group

Black British-Other Black

Asian British-Pakistani

Chinese/other ethnic group-Chinese

White and Black Caribbean

Other Mixed

Asian British-Other Asian

White and Asian

White and Black African

 
Hackney’s resident working age population comprises of 61% White and 39% 
Black Asian and Minority Ethnic residents. There is a near majority of White 
British residents at 49%. Graph 12 illustrates the next largest segments within 
the working age population are White Other, Black British African, and Black 
British Caribbean. Notably, these ethnic segments are the 2nd, 3rd and 4th 
highest segments; however, they only represent 12%, 10% and 8% of the 
working age population respectively. These will be important comparators 
when we break down the populations represented on benefit.  

Examining the ethnicity of JSA claimants shows two trends. Graph 13 
demonstrates the proportions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 39 - 
 Page 69



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 13 Ethnicity: JSA  

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
of

 W
or

ki
n

g
 A

g
e 

P
op

u
la

ti
on

JSA Rates 2005-2009 Total
White-British

White-Irish

White-Other

White and Black 
Caribbean
White and Black African

White and Asian

Other Mixed

Asian British-Indian

Asian British-Pakistani

Asian British-
Bangladeshi
Asian British-Other 
Asian
Black British-Caribbean

Black British-African

Black British-Other 
Black
Chinese

 

As we have discussed, all claimants rose in 2009, but Graph 13 shows a few 
populations that are consistently higher every year. The majority of absolute 
numbers of claimants of JSA are consistently White British between 2005-
2009, reflecting the majority in the working age population. However, as a 
percentage of the working age population, the majority of claimants are 
consistently Black Caribbean, British Other Black, White and Black 
Caribbean, Other Mixed and Black British African. Table 2 demonstrates the 
proportions over the time series. 

Table 2 Highest Ethnic Unemployment Rates 2005-2009 

Ethnic Segment  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Black British-Caribbean 11% 12% 11% 11% 15%
Black British-Other Black 8% 9% 8% 8% 12%
White and Black Caribbean 8% 9% 6% 8% 11%
Other Mixed 7% 9% 7% 7% 10%
Black British-African 5% 6% 5% 5% 8%

 
During the 5 years, unemployment rates for White British and White Other 
were 3%. In 2009, when benefit claimants rose due to the recession, White 
claimants went up by 1% to 4%. Over the same period, Black claimants 
averaged 9% unemployment rates increasing by an average 3% in 2009. 
Black Caribbeans are the highest proportion of the working age population of 
any ethnic segment, with an unemployment rate of high 15% in 2009. 

- 40 - 
 Page 70



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

The average claimant rate for JSA in Hackney is about 6%. There are no non-
Black or African ethnicities reporting higher than average claimant rates. 
This means Black Caribbean claimants were 9% above the Hackney average 
in 2009 while White claimants remained 3% below the borough average. 
Black Caribbean claimants are overrepresented by nearly double their 
representation in the working age population in 2009. In 2009, Black African 
represented 10% of the working age population and 12% of claimants, this is 
an overrepresentation by 20% of their proportion of the working age 
population. This is consistent with national trends where the most common 
segments to experience ethnic disadvantages in hiring, wages and quality of 
work are Black African and Black Caribbeans, and Pakistani and 
Bangladeshis.  

Other Black segments have the highest unemployment rates in the UK at 
13%, followed by White Black Caribbean, 10% and 9% for Black African and 
Black Caribbean.24 We assume these are ILO survey estimates and 
Hackney’s rates are 10% or more above these rates. In London, the highest 
claimant rates for males within the working age population were Other Black, 
which includes Mixed heritage populations, in 2009 was 12%. The London 
wide claimant rate for Black Caribbeans was 9% and Black Africans roughly 
7%. Hackney’s figures are drastically higher for Black Caribbeans and about 
the same for Other Black and Black African.  

We know from the analysis above that men drive the JSA rates in Hackney. 
When we add gender and ethnicity, we can see the rates for ethnic males are 
higher than for ethnic segments alone. Graph 14 shows the JSA rates for 
proportion of each ethnic segment in the male working population.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
24 These figures are reported for all segments and are not divided by age or gender. Data is taken from, 
Centre for Economic Exclusion (2010). An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK London: National 
Equality Panel 

- 41 - 
 Page 71



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 14 Gender/Ethnicity: Males on JSA  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

P
er
ce
n
ta
ge

 o
f 
W
o
rk
in
g 
A
ge
 P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

Males JSA 2005‐2009 
White-British

White-Irish

White-Other

White and Black 
Caribbean
White and Black African

White and Asian

Other Mixed

Asian British-Indian

Asian British-Pakistani

Asian British-Bangladeshi

Asian British-Other Asian

Black British-Caribbean

Black British-African

Black British-Other Black

Chinese

 
Black Caribbean males were claiming JSA benefit at the highest levels over 
the past 5 years. The second most common group is Black Other with an 
average of 15%. The third highest proportions are White and Black 
Caribbeans over the 5 years with average unemployment or claimant rates of 
13%. The increase that all segments experienced in 2009 was highest in 
White and Black Caribbean males at an increase of 9% to 19% between 2007 
and 2009. The unemployment rate for Black Caribbean males rose by 6% 
between these years to 23%. White and Black African and Black British 
African males were the next highest segments. All of these groups have 
unemployment rates of 10% or more. By comparison, White males also 
spiked in 2009, but only by 2% in this period from 3% to 5%.   

The overrepresentation of Black Caribbean and Black and White Caribbean 
men mirrors the totals for all men, only the gap is wider. In 2009, Black 
Caribbean men were 3 times the proportion on benefit than in the working age 
population. The next highest level of over representation is the White Black 
Caribbean group; they are claiming at a rate of double their representation in 
the total working age population. Last, the Black Other population is claiming 
at over 1.5 times their proportion in the population.  

Outside of the Black and African segments, the rates of population and those 
of the total within all working age men are similar. While the rates of 
Bangladeshi claimants are the next highest group after Black males, Hackney 
does not have a similar problem with Bangladeshi men as exists in national 
trends. These segments also seem to demonstrate steady rates at about 
average or just below average claimant rates as the total population.  

The claimant rates for women demonstrate a clear trend of a majority Black 
Caribbean and Africans as well. As with the JSA analysis of gender, women’s 
claimant rates within the working age population are on a magnitude lower 

- 42 - 
 Page 72



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

than men’s. The sample sizes are smaller so the more extreme values should 
be taken with a degree of caution. Graph 15 demonstrates the ethnic 
segments within the female working age population. 

Graph 15 Gender/Age: Females on JSA 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

P
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
of

 W
or

ki
n

g
 A

g
e 

P
op

u
la

ti
on

JSA 2005‐2009 Women
White-British

White-Irish

White-Other

White and Black 
Caribbean
White and Black 
African
White and Asian

Other Mixed

Asian British-Indian

Asian British-
Pakistani
Asian British-
Bangladeshi
Asian British-Other 
Asian
Black British-
Caribbean
Black British-African

Black British-Other 
Black
Chinese

 

The first thing to notice is the segments of the women’s population cluster 
tighter than those of the men. There were obvious differences between some 
segments of the population visible immediately in the men’s rates. Women’s 
rates have lower absolute numbers on the benefit and less difference 
between the ethnic segments. There are still clear majorities. The top four 
resemble the same segments as men: Black Caribbean, Black African, White 
and Black Caribbean, and Black Other.  

Claimants from Other Mixed increased the fastest in the recession, and the 
highest rates over the 5-year period were Black Caribbean women with a 
steady rate of 5% until 2009 when it increased to 8%. Other Black are the 
next highest segment with an average 5% bouncing between 4 and 6% and 
rising to 8% in 2009. White and Black Caribbean women are the next highest 
unemployed proportion of their working age population at an average of 4.5% 
and an increase in 2009 to 7%. Black African women averaged rates just 
above 3% across the 5 years and only increased to 5% in 2009.  

Black Caribbean women on JSA are overrepresented by 70% of their 
proportion of the working age population, which is not as bad as Black 
Caribbean men are, although still a strong overrepresentation. Other Black 
women are 1.5 times their rate of the working age population and White and 
Black Caribbean women are just under this at 40% overrepresentation.   

- 43 - 
 Page 73



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

The JSA claimant rate for all women in the borough was around 3% between 
2005-2009. Black African and Caribbean women are well over this average at 
5-8% of the working age population. There is a clear ethnic effect driving 
Hackney’s JSA claimants, in both men and women, Black or African heritage 
is a large disadvantage. In comparison, White JSA claimants are 
underrepresented by half in both men and women compared to the total 
working age population.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

- 44 - 
 Page 74



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

2.2.5 Segmentation 5: Ethnicity, Age, Gender 

The analysis above breaks down Hackney’s unemployed and workless 
population by age, gender and ethnicity. We now combine these to gain a 
picture of the interactions between them. This analysis is particularly useful in 
targeting resources to the most in need of investment.  

We continue to focus on JSA and now narrow the sample to one year in order 
to refine the segmentation analysis. We focus on 2009 as we can see the 
depth of the effects of the recession and claimants are at the highest rates 
across the segments. Thus far, key findings in each individual segment 
include: 

 The highest proportions of claimants are the 18-24s.The next highest 
are the 55-59s and the 45-54s although only slightly above the 35-44s.  

 JSA is primarily a male benefit with 70% of men making up the 
claimants.  

 The most common ages of males on JSA are 45-54. 

 Females 18-24 represent higher proportions on benefit than their 
working age population.  

 The most highly represented ethnic segments are Black Caribbean, 
British Other Black, White and Black Caribbean, Other Mixed and 
Black British African  

 Black Caribbean men were claiming JSA benefit at the highest levels 
over the past 5 years. The second most common group is Black Other 
with an average of 15%. The third highest proportions are White and 
Black Caribbeans over the 5 years with average unemployment or 
claimant rates of 13%.  

 Black Caribbean women with a steady rate of 5% until 2009 when it 
increased to 8%. Other Black is the next highest segment followed by 
White and Black Caribbean women.  

Applying the combinations of age, gender and ethnicity will pinpoint the 
priority claimants even further. Graph 16 illustrates how the combinations 
bring the three previous analyses together to definitively highlight the 
segments with the highest levels of overrepresentation on JSA.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 45 - 
 Page 75



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph16 Age/Ethnicity/Gender: Males on JSA 2009 

 

With smaller populations, the proportions of claimants within the working age 
are much higher than in the previous segments. The 45-54 segments of the 
population White and Black Caribbean segment is very small and the majority 
of the population is on benefit, a full 67%, but this only represents 20 people 
so the spike is exaggerated within the graph.  

In terms of absolute numbers, the two major populations driving the high 
levels of 45-54 male claimants are White British and Black Caribbean. While 
White British claimants are 52% of the working age population, they are only 
26% of claimants. Black Caribbean males 45-54; however, are 3% of the 
population of 45-54s. They represent 27% of claimants in this segment, an 
overrepresentation of 4 times their amount in the working age population. By 
this measure, they have an unemployment rate of 37%.  

The Other Black segment is the next highest rate of 45-54 males at 38% of 
the working age population and an overrepresentation of 4 times their rate. In 
all, Black 45-54 year old men in Hackney have an unemployment rate of 24%, 
18 points above the Borough average of JSA claimants. By comparison, all 
White males of this age segment are claiming at or below the borough 
average at 5-6% 

Interestingly, this level of segmentation analysis reveals a high claimant rate 
for 45-54 yr old Bangladeshi men. Again, the numbers are very small, but 
31% of the working age population of 45-54s is claiming JSA.  

Across the rest of the age groups for males, Black Caribbean, African, and 
White and Black Caribbean continue to have the highest proportions of the 
working age population on benefit. The next most prominent age group is the 
18-24s. The Black Caribbean 18-24s have a 30% unemployment rate, White 
and Black Caribbean 18-24s have a 28% unemployment rate and Other Black 

- 46 - 
 Page 76



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

18-24s are claiming at a rate of 18% the working age population and 15% of 
the working age African population is claiming JSA.  

Black Caribbean and Other Black males 18-24 are overrepresented on JSA 
by twice their number in the 18-24 male population in Hackney. White and 
Black Caribbean young men are also overrepresented by twice their 
proportion in the working age population. The unemployment rate for all Black 
males 18-24 is 18%. JSA is an active benefit where the recipients are 
expected to look for work. Claimant duration data for 2005-2009 in Hackney 
shows Black men aged 25-49 remaining on benefit for the longest periods of 
all ethnicities.  

By comparison, the all White claimant rate is 9% with White 18-24s claiming 
at 10% and White Other at 7%. Graph 16 shows this is a much lower degree 
than the Black population of 18-24s. Other Mixed 18-24 men have 25% of the 
population on benefit, this trend has not shown up in past segmentation 
analysis demonstrating the benefits of analysing the population for specific 
segments.  

Another benefit of this type of analysis is our ability to see a generational 
pattern in the data. Black Caribbeans 25-34s and 35-44s are also the highest 
male claimants in these age groups with rates above 20%. White and Black 
Caribbean have similarly high rates for both age groups, 27% in the 35-44s. 
The evidence demonstrating how worklessness passes through the family can 
be seen in the high rates of young and older men and the consistency of 
some groups that remain on benefit across the age cycles.  

Hackney’s results are not anomalous. A 2006 DWP report found that Black 
African, Caribbean, Pakistani and Bangladeshi men experience considerable 
disadvantages in the British labour market; these include higher 
unemployment rates, a prevalence of routine and semi-routine work and lower 
hourly earnings compared to British and Other Whites. Even after controlling 
for age, education or foreign birth, these groups have poorer outcomes.25 
These results hold for their children who are born in the UK. The 2010 
Anatomy of Inequality report, confirmed that Black African and Black 
Caribbean boys in England have test results well below the national figures 
and are less likely to go to university or study higher degrees.26  

Several studies have similar findings for the country as a whole. Usually, 
Pakistani and Bangladeshi men are unemployed at the same rates as 
Caribbean and African men. While we found this for 45-54 year old 
Bangladeshis, Hackney does not have high unemployment rates for 
Pakistanis. The Other Mixed aged group had a higher claimant rate at 18-24, 
especially when considering their over representation on the benefit, but this 
rate reduces by 10% in later age segments.  

For women, rates remain at a lower magnitude than men and the 18-24 
segments are still represented at higher rates on JSA, but when we add 

                                                 
25 Heath, A and Cheung, Dr Sin Yi (2006). Ethnic penalties in the labour market: Employers and 
discrimination. (Research Report No 341). Norwich: Department for Work and Pensions 
26 Centre for Economic Exclusion (2010). An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK London: 
National Equality Panel 
 

- 47 - 
 Page 77



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Gender, Age, and Ethnicity together, it is specifically young black women and 
women 50+ who makes up the largest proportions on JSA. Sample sizes in 
this segment are incredibly small, as low as 10 claimants in some groups, but 
the population segments are equally small. The Other Black 45-54 category is 
made of 90 people with one-third of the population on benefit, hence the spike 
in Graph 17 below.  

Graph 17 Age/Ethnicity/Gender: Females on JSA 2009 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 W
or

ki
ng

 A
ge

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

Females JSA 2009
18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
White and Black Caribbean, White and Black African, Other Mixed and Black 
Caribbean women are the top claimants in their working age population for 
the 18-24s, their rates are 10% or more than the rest of the segments. JSA 
claimant rates drop for some women between the ages of 25-44, the ages 
where we found the highest rates of lone parent claimants.  An ethnicity 
analysis of Lone Parent benefit would clarify if the 25-44 segments from these 
ethnicities were still claiming benefit, but a different benefit.   

In the 25-34s, Other Mixed claimants are the highest proportion of the working 
age population. Although 25-34 White British women are 8% of the total 
claimants on benefit, it is a very small proportion of the working age, 3%. For 
the 35-44s, Other Asian claimants appear as the highest proportion of the 
working age for the first time, due to a very small population, 8% is only 10 
people; however, it reflects how few women are on JSA at this age in total. 
The highest claimant levels in this segment are the White and Black 
Caribbean women at 9% of the working age population.  

Overrepresentation is still strong, even with the lower levels of claimant rates. 
For White and Black Caribbean women 18-24, their proportion on benefit is 3 
times their number in the population. Black Caribbean and White and Black 
African are both overrepresented on benefit by twice their numbers in the 

- 48 - 
 Page 78



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

working age population. For the 45-54s, White and Black Caribbean women 
are such a small proportion of the working age population that their high 
presence of 21% claimant rate generates an overrepresentation level of 4 
times their portion of the population. In other words, there are only a few of 
these women in the population, but nearly one-quarter of them are on benefit. 
The next highest claimant rate, Black Caribbean women, are numerous 
enough that their overrepresentation by 2.5 times their rate in the working age 
population represents a substantial number of people.  

Conclusions 

The findings from the combinations of age, gender and ethnicity give 
policymakers the ability to directly target the specific populations who are 
driving the high rates of JSA and IB claimants in Hackney. Given the steady 
rates of the working age population on benefit, it seems we are not reaching 
the populations we need to in the ways we need to if we want to reduce 
worklessness in the borough. Understanding the characteristics of the 
population helps us find them, speak to them in ways they can respond to and 
diagnose the causes of their continued worklessness.  

In every age group and every ethnicity of males, the absolute majority of 
benefit claimants are White and 25-34. However, in terms of severity and 
consistency, Black male claimants are at higher levels of the working age 
population in every age group and are significantly overrepresented compared 
to their total numbers in the population. For women, the ethnicity of Lone 
Parent benefit claimants remains a major unknown as the very ages who 
claim the highest levels of this benefit are at low levels of JSA. The 
overrepresentation of the ethnic groups who are on JSA, Black women, is still 
strong. Young Black women are claiming at a rate of 15% lower than their 
male counterparts are, but they still drive Hackney’s stubborn JSA claimant 
rates on the whole.  

The policy literature and comparative data confirms Hackney’s findings, but 
offers few suggestions for intervention. The following sections of this Review 
offer ideas from Team Hackney, Hackney Council service providers and 
service user groups to address the various determinants of worklessness for 
these groups.  

- 49 - 
 Page 79



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 3: Discussion and Recommendations 

3.1 Findings Overview 

While the last section suggests an overrepresentation of benefit claimants, 
who are Black males currently, 2009 evidence from Bristol University study on 
attainment and ethnicity demonstrated worsening educational achievement for 
young, white boys in recent years. It examined several contributing factors to 
educational performance and identified poverty acted as the strongest drag on 
school achievement.27  This result signifies that job training and skills 
development alone cannot reduce worklessness.  

Closer assessment of the barriers to work cited by Hackney residents 
exposes two major stories underlying Hackney’s worklessness trends. The 
older men and women who have been on benefit for an extended period 
illustrates the culmination of a series of past failures on the part of public 
services, parents and community investment to prevent the cycle of poverty.  

The second aspect is the potential of their children to repeat the same history. 
Less than five years ago, Hackney secondary schools and further education 
institutions were observing underachievement in the same population of 18-
24s we see on benefit now.28 If the older age groups are any indication, these 
groups will sustain high claimant numbers.  

Like sustainability and cohesion, poverty, by its very nature, is a complex 
cross-cutting issue. Lifting people out of poverty is a task that requires 
innovative, strategic and coordinated service delivery29 and a key strategy is 
preventative service delivery across time. Studies on intergenerational 
transmission of poverty note that people with no educational qualifications are 
five times as likely to be in a non-earning family as families where parents 
have higher education degrees.30 If young Black men in Hackney have poor 
outcomes in secondary school, are on benefit between 18 and 24, and then 
become older men who experience health conditions and long-term 
unemployment, we should recognise the cycle.  

The Cross-cutting Review findings demonstrate that particular groups have 
fallen through our service safety net for years and in order to prevent the 18-
24 year olds from reproducing this cycle again the Partnership will need to 
push collaborative innovation to the next level.  

Evaluations of Hackney’s worklessness programmes have revealed that we 
have continued to miss these segments.31 The Council’s unemployment 

                                                 
27 Burgess, S, Wilson, D, and  Worth, J, (2009) Passing through school: the evolution of attainment of 
England’s ethnic minorities London: CMPO, University of Bristol and the Government Equalities Office 
28 In 2007 34.4% of black pupils and 40.2% of Mixed pupils in Hackney got 5 good GCSEs including 
English and Maths compared to 41.5% for all pupils (42.2% for white pupils). Department for Children, 
Schools,  and Families, 2009. 
29 Meadows P. (2007) What works with tackling worklessness. London: London Development Agency 
and GLA Economics 
30 Berthoud, R. (2003) Multiple Disadvantages in Employment: A Quantitative Analysis, York: Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation. 
31 Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion (2009). ‘Ways into Work’ Evaluation and Successor 
Programme , ERS, (2008), Moving On Evaluation, ERS (2010), Hackney Longitudinal Survey, Final 
Update Report 

- 50 - 
 Page 80



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

interventions are sending the people who are ready for work to job interviews. 
The segments that need more service support and soft skills cannot make it 
through our worklessness programmes, let alone employment training and 
jobs. If the same segment was on JSA or IB before we focused on reducing 
worklessness, we either failed to prevent the next age segment from the same 
experience or we did not reach the core of the problem. Some of these groups 
may be moved off benefit through changes in conditionality, but off benefit 
does not mean back to work.  

Efficient service delivery in the 21st Century should have moved away from 
simplistic cost cutting and service reduction to a new approach that 
maximises existing resources, especially those of stakeholders. Hackney’s 
Strategic Commissioning Beacon award is the foundation of creative service 
delivery that produces results, especially for problems that require multi-
agency, cross-sectoral solutions.  

The recommendations in this Review suggest ways we can further recognise 
the vital roles played by health and housing services, local schools and 
colleges, the police, and the local business and community sectors in solving 
complex problems together. In practice, this means going to the next level of 
partnership, where sharing data and budgets, working flexibly across sectors 
and within services, and, crucially, treating the whole person with integrated 
interventions across families and life stages is the norm.32 This will be the 
primary role for the local authority under the new specifications of the Single 
Work Programme.  

The recommendations below are set first as general ideas for all services and 
their partnerships as they contribute to multi-agency problem solving on 
issues such as poverty. These are accompanies by a specific set of 
recommendations for service evolution linked to the findings in the 
worklessness assessment. We applaud the partnership for coming this far, 
and achievements will create the willingness to raise our game to the next 
phases of partnership. We can only insulate our most vulnerable residents 
from poverty if we are real with each other about the level of commitment we 
can provide.  

                                                 
32 London Councils (2010). Total Place – towards a new service model for Londoners  London: London 
Councils 

- 51 - 
 Page 81



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

3.2 Specific Recommendations 

1. Providing for Emotional and Mental Health Issues in Employment 
 A large portion of our Incapacity Benefit claimants cite mental health issues, 
and as a result, Team Hackney has commissioned several employment and 
mental health projects. The evaluation from the Moving On project highlighted 
the success of partnership collaboration in moving clients through the pre-
conditions of work into employment. The evaluation’s primary suggestion for 
improvement was phasing these support services and leaving appropriate 
time for achievements within health and wellbeing rather than a rush of 
emphasis on sustainable employment. 

A similar idea is suggested in Hackney’s three-year Longitudinal Survey of 
clients who have participated in our worklessness programmes33, “The 
strongest trend in terms of suggested improvement across interventions was 
a need or desire for delivery agents to remain responsive to client needs for a 
greater length of time.  This extends to both in-work mentoring to help ensure 
that beneficiaries achieve sustainable employment and also to progress 
clients into other or ‘better’ opportunities.”  Extended contact between 
employment advisors and clients has been recommended in NEETs 
programmes as well.  

Ingeus, the Pathways to Work provider, suggests that a typical IB case could 
require anywhere from 6 months to 1.5 years and they maintain an open door 
policy if the client requires assistance in the future. We believe this a key 
finding for employment sustainability. The higher cost in supporting a client for 
a longer time period could be recovered in reduced expenditure on benefit 
and health care. 

1.1. Develop research and guidance for service providers working with 
SMEs 
An immediate option for small and medium firms would convene a discussion 
with employment advisors and develop a specific plan for arbitration and 
mediation for clients who request support with their new placements. 
Currently, Ingeus supplies ad-hoc mediation when their clients require extra 
support. Specific commissioning and training for this intervention could 
increase for employment sustainability. Formation of projects around these 
principles would also utilise the Expert Patient Model that places experienced 
clients with new clients in a peer mentoring relationship. Ingeus employ this 
method on occasion as well.  

1.2 Explore education and employment potential in the care economy  
Social care support is being transformed nationally and locally, with an 
increased emphasis on self directed and personalised care support for people 
living with long-term heath conditions and impairments.  An increased 
emphasis on independent living for disabled people and people with long–
term health conditions means enabling individuals and their families to regain 
choice and control over their lives in a wide range of ways. These include 
participation in family, social, community, civic and work life alongside their 
non-disabled peers, despite their impairment.    

                                                 
33 ERS (2010), Hackney Longitudinal Survey, Final Update Report 
 

- 52 - 
 Page 82



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

This shift creates a number of opportunities for the local economy.  Firstly, as 
a result of direct payments and individual budgets, more disabled people 
should be offered the potential to control and direct the support mechanisms 
they require to allow them to continue in or return to work.  Further, rather 
than a one-size fits all approach to care support provided by traditional 
agencies, new models of care present a range of opportunities for the local 
economy.  

We see the rapidly growing care sector as a major opportunity for an 
economy where the PCT represents a large portion of available jobs in the 
area. These could be in the form of flexible employment opportunities, 
personalised support service delivery, management skills for disabled people 
and training and accreditation for new skills gained by support workers.   

2. Services, especially education and employment should take a whole 
family approach to delivery. 
Like employment, education and training also have preconditions. Housing, 
safety, health and crucially, parental support, must be in place in order to 
attend and concentrate in any learning program. The following 
recommendations concentrate on linking these services to support 
employment training. Linkages between adult and young people’s 
employment initiatives will ensure positive interventions can maximise benefit 
through mutual reinforcement.  

2.1. Relevant partners should ensure vertical links between parent 
employment programmes, adult skills provision, and the parenting 
strategy.  
Additionally, horizontal links with the various employment programmes 
delivered through children’s centres and other family sites will ensure wrap 
around delivery with the family as the unit of intervention instead of the 
individual.  

The Equality Impact Assessment for the Employment and Skills Strategy 
identified that “We recognise that there is a need to monitor take-up of all 
these new opportunities to ensure that they are being made available equally 
to all groups and individuals, and to track the benefits that will ensue for 
different groups and individuals…a substantial amount of quantitative 
evidence has been gathered to show the needs of people across the different 
equality strands.”  

We believe this needs to be linked to the new information from this Review 
regarding the demographics of benefits claimants. A key aspect of this is 
appreciating the spaces where people learn informally and linking delivery to 
these such as the grocery store, the bank or on a sports team. 

2.1 Employment services should be expanded beyond estates to ensure 
multiple access points are maximised.   
Focusing only on estates could be missing many preventative opportunities. 
This also limits collaboration with family employment programmes delivered in 
libraries, schools and health centres. Feedback from services reported that 
clients require as many interface points as possible to meet them where they 
are, which not necessarily at home. Distributed organisations that have 

- 53 - 
 Page 83



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

mainstreamed employment and training programmes may be more effective 
with those who are not responding to the CSP programme. We note that 
while, nearly 50,000 people were contacted by Ways into Work in the first two 
years, only 975 moved to employment34. This suggests a possible 
engagement gap. 

2.2 Increase the role of fathers in all service programmes 
Many of Hackney’s education and training programmes are designed to be 
delivered to the mother. Service providers discussed only pilot projects and 
ad-hoc approaches to target fathers and the father/child relationship. For 
boys’ achievements especially, ‘lads-and-dads’ technical projects where 
learning is integrated and less academic have proven to show success in 
Hackney. These projects should be scheduled for weekends to further extend 
the reach to fathers. 

A better understanding of the characteristics of the population also enables 
services to adapt delivery appropriately. As part of the consultation feedback 
on Hackney’s Parenting Strategy, the Parent Involvement Officer working in 
schools with a higher proportion of Black African and Black Caribbean 
children and young people suggested parents in work, but on low incomes, 
would welcome employment and skills training opportunities. These 
programmes could be more helpful if they were more affordable and were 
operated at times that could be organised around work and childcare 
responsibilities.  

2.3. Family centred approaches should lead to the early identification of 
at-risk young people. 
Increased monitoring and deeper collaboration around a family unit will enable 
early intervention when children are still young. Risk ladders have been a tool 
for medical researchers to understand where prevention programmes should 
identify groups most likely to suffer from particular disease or health 
complications. This same methodology can target intergenerational poverty as 
well. Services should seek to identify children from families with complex 
needs as early as possible to support resilient young people and mitigate the 
cultural influences of those who are not. Services for children and young 
people reported that the best time to intervene is before year 7 or 8. This 
could be accomplished through collaborative employment and support 
services delivered to parents and their children.  

3. Identify and agree Priority Target Groups to ensure services are 
reaching those who need them most in ways they can access them.  
An environment of decreased resources necessitates targeting in service 
planning. The collection and utilisation of data enables a more precise 
understanding of where the problem lies within complex issues such as 
worklessness. If a clear pattern emerges from this data, targeting, equalities 
monitoring and quality assurance would also enable services to check if they 
are fit for purpose for various segments of the population. At the same time, 
better utilisation of organisations that are successful at reaching these 
populations could maximise resources even further.  

                                                 
34 Hackney Council (2010) Annual Report   

- 54 - 
 Page 84



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

The London Borough of Wandsworth has developed a system for priority 
group identification and monitoring focusing on the spatial areas and specific 
populations experiencing persistent inequality and deprivation. They 
developed a baseline for a target population such as young, black males and 
employment and education. Funding bids and service projects have been 
developed accordingly. This same approach has been successful in other 
boroughs throughout the country. 

3.1. In order to address the needs of priority groups most efficiently, we 
recommend consulting with a broad range of organisations supporting 
these groups as a next step to service delivery. 
This approach would build on existing knowledge and could reach out to 
service users for their input through focus groups and customer surveys. 
Newly focussed consultation with groups currently supporting priority 
residents would provide preliminary intelligence for new service collaboration 
and design.  

This recommendation was emphasised in the evaluation of Hackney’s At 
Work Young Black Males employment project, commissioned in 2007. 
Findings included:  

 Establishing better linkages with community safety projects as 
territoriality issues prevented initial success in recruitment of 
beneficiaries. An office located in Hoxton, while central and accessible 
to some, was a barrier to entry for others precisely due to its location. 
At the same time, estate based agencies also failed to produce eligible 
candidates. In the end, distributed social networking contacts proved to 
be more effective.  

 Innovation, flexibility and local adaptation in delivery. The programme 
changed engagement approaches several times as initial tactics failed 
to produce take-up. 

 Partnership collaboration was imperative to ensure accessibility and 
awareness of the project from all support services and all locations, not 
only estates.  

 Presumption on the part of delivery agents. The Black males involved 
in the project did not believe they had a lack of skills, confidence or self 
esteem barriers; in fact their most commonly listed barrier was a lack of 
access to information about job opportunities and work experience. 
This is borne out in national and international evidence as a lack of 
social and bridging capital is cited as one of the most common barriers 
to work. Most positions are not advertised externally and the lack of 
professional linkages can be a massive hurdle for gaining employment, 
or even an interview.  

Enterprise has also been identified by Hackney organisations as an option for 
young Black males as a successful alternative given structural labour market 
conditions which perpetuate employment discrimination. Local economies 
require a vibrant local business base, this population has expressed interest 
in local business ownership and several programmes exist to build on this 
preference. 

A refined policy, based on intelligence from and about priority groups would 
illuminate the different angles of intervention. The prevalence of older age 

- 55 - 
 Page 85



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

groups on JSA and Incapacity Benefit may be better treated with enterprise 
development projects, volunteering, health and cultural activities. Leading with 
employment and training for this group may not be the most appropriate, but 
enterprise or training options embedded into existing programmes could reach 
a larger population.  

Early indications of targeted strategies for this group would include: 
 Stronger links between the Older People’s Strategy and employment 

programmes especially Job Centre Plus Pathways to Work programme 
for IB claimants and any volunteer programme providing training or 
employment experience. 

 Solid links and joint delivery of male mortality programmes with 
employment programmes with the recognition that work is key to well 
being. This would include appreciating the similar masculinity issues in 
employment and health and targeting delivery so that these services 
reinforce each other. 

The appreciation of longer periods for a return on investment in projects 
addressing the preconditions of work would apply to outcome targets 
established for priority groups. For example, targets set for estimated time 
between engagement and work readiness for projects such as ESOL. Such 
courses could take several years to gain enough competencies for work, 
depending on the client group. This was mentioned as especially true for 
women who may be more isolated at home.  Pre-entry level training is 
sometimes required to get people up to a basic standard to be able to do a 
formal course but there is no central funding for this kind of provision. 

4. Learning and analysis for the Cross-cutting Worklessness Review 
should be incorporated into the Children and Young People’s Plan and 
the Child Poverty and Family Wellbeing Review, specifically 
recommendations 2 and 3.  
Relevant aspects of this research will be further investigated through the 
development of the upcoming plans and reviews to further elaborate findings.  

The call for integrated data management and evidence based strategic 
planning will need to mirror the levels of coordination in the East London 
Connexions service where the hard work was done to align data and bring the 
NEETs figure down by 10%.35 Our suggestion for creative, family centred 
delivery should build on employment services delivered in Children’s Centres 
and at the school gate and link in the Saturday sports programmes aimed at 
fathers and sons.  

The Ways into Work programme demonstrates the power of targeting as 
social housing based delivery opened up a new avenue for service links. 
Equally, targeting employment services at priority groups such as those who 
are disproportionally claiming benefit will mean adapting design to their 
circumstances and connecting with them through familiar and trusted 
channels across their lifetimes.  Finally, we promote the idea of working 
through theme based, cross partnership groups so the cross-cutting aspects 
of complex problems are not delinked and we can move toward prevention. 

                                                 
35 Audit Commission (2009). Is there something I should know: Making the most of your 
information to improve services, London: HMSO 

- 56 - 
 Page 86



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

3.3 General Recommendations  

1. Increased cross-partnership and cross-department collaboration in 
service delivery.  
With a solid partnership infrastructure in place, Team Hackney is ready to 
move to a deeper level of collaboration. This could be facilitated by increased 
virtual and physical co-location of teams and theme based strategic planning. 
The new Services Centre will facilitate this within the Council; however, the 
partnership needs to move in this direction. Capability will require flexible 
teams with representatives from all disciplines working on a complex problem 
from identification to delivery. Tower Hamlets has integrated their health and 
social care services using a single assessment. Staff from different 
organisations work together on-site, which enables a single point of entry for 
customers, alignment of work practices and joint management.  

1.1 Moving to themed based project teams 
Active collaboration can also enable the development of issue rather than 
department based strategies. If strategies are combined along themes clear 
enough to mean something, but broad enough to coordinate service delivery, 
less people fall through the net. For example, a whole family approach would 
link several service disciplines together so adults and children in the same 
family would receive synchronized employment and/or health services.  

This would also enable preventative policy where children from unemployed 
households can receive extra help to stay in school. Collaboration in this 
manner could focus the unit of treatment on an issue or community instead of 
just a single individual. Value for money gains would be made from services 
reinforcing each other and transfer of information. This approach was quite 
successful for Hackney’s response to high infant mortality rates. Separate 
programs exist across the partnership; the next major step is to link them. 

Streamlined collaboration can assist with transition points. As people move 
from service to service depending on their needs, it is the partnership’s 
responsibility to ensure that services must follow them from one point to the 
next. For example, NEETs moving from the Connexions service to Job Centre 
Plus should be seamlessly moved to a new advisor who is prepared with 
adequate background information.  

1.2 Joint performance and accountability for collaboration should be 
included in programme monitoring and reported to leadership.  
Partners should be expected to communicate service offers and strategies 
across disciplines and sectors such that links between efforts are purposely 
made.  

1.3 These recommendations would also coincide with similar 
procedures being enacted within Hackney Council in terms of cross-
departmental collaboration and integrated strategic planning.  
A key distinction at this tier of planning and delivery would be the addition of 
leadership champions of priority themes. Director and Cabinet level 
leadership on a particular theme coupled with widespread reporting would 
anchor these efforts to business plans and performance monitoring. 
 
 

- 57 - 
 Page 87



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

2. Increase monitoring across all services for their contribution to 
employment and other complex themes.  
To facilitate collaboration, data should be collected and analysed from a 
cross-cutting work groups, relevant information should be included in future 
service design. This has been fundamental part of decreasing NEETs in 
Hackney. Accurate, accessible data across sectors and disciplines enabled 
better identification and monitoring of the target population, the result was 
better communication between the key services available to NEETs. 

2.1 Beyond Equalities Impact Assessments, equalities and segmentation 
data should be collected and analysed as part of performance data.  
Quarterly results should be reported to leadership and, crucially, fed back into 
service design and development; no service should ever be designed without 
clearly identifying the background information of the population and 
considering potential programmes impacts of population segments. This data, 
processed properly is key intelligence for service and business planning. The 
partnership has existing experience of having taken this kind of approach 
before, when education data analysis identified differential outcomes for Black 
Caribbean and Turkish boys. Family and community learning interventions 
were designed and funded to address these, including the family learning 
provision in Shoreditch.  

2.2 Staff should have joint training sessions on data development and 
management for complex problems such as worklessness.  
Current partnerships could be further maximised through active exchange and 
co-production of strategies to align along themes. Performance monitoring 
would expand to include information sharing and partnership engagement for 
data collection and analysis. 

3.  Embed employment 
Employment is a secondary condition. Health, community safety, education 
and housing all contribute to employment. These determinants must be 
aligned in order to give rise to employment. Efficiency would include 
employment advice with the appropriate services. Recent examples of 
projects include the placement of employment advisors in health centres, 
building connections between employers and schools, and equipping housing 
advisors with employment information.  

The ethic behind these projects should become the overriding principle in 
design, foregrounding the services’ contribution to employment and 
deliberately designing employment advice in.  

In all, the primary theme of our findings is more intense use of multi-pronged 
approaches delivered from a personal and community development 
perspective. Our research highlighted some immediate gains, which could 
contribute to the broader culture change suggested above. These are listed in 
the next section. 
 
 

 

 

 

- 58 - 
 Page 88



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 4: Consultation with Team Hackney  

4.1 Partnership Response to Recommendations 

The recommendations above were taken to each of the Team Hackney 
partnership meetings and the Team Hackney board for discussion. The points 
highlighted below demonstrate a willingness to work together and detailed 
suggestions for working together further.  

The partnership boards believed that the core longstanding issue in the 
borough is poverty and health needs or unemployment are merely symptoms.  
An evidenced based approach was widely accepted especially considering 
the reduction in resources. The Partnership needs to know what works and 
what does not as there is no value in spending money where it does not help.  

Economic Development Partnership cannot take the issue of worklessness on 
alone. It is limited and needs stronger collaboration across the Partnership 
boards. There was concern that while we all agree on the solutions to service 
breakdown in theory, integration always remains a practical problem. 
Leadership, partnership, delivery and joint evidence are always the stumbling 
blocks, this time we should figure out how to get around these.  

We should treat people in the categories they present their needs in, mentally 
ill clients, offenders and drug and alcohol clients share many of the same 
problems. Their children will be at risk for repeating these cycles; we could 
have quick wins if we identify which families these are and work with them 
holistically. It requires a long term view and a systematic approach. We need 
to see how different aspects of poverty reinforce each other to create a larger 
problem. 

Service integration and coordination will save money and help keep everyone 
moving in the same direction. This will include the 3rd sector, not only 
integration within the sector, but with the public sector. The family centred 
approach was seen as a good way to organise services and to force the links 
that need to be made, but continue to be disconnected. This will especially 
benefit the 18-24s since family is seen as such a high predictor of poor 
outcomes.  

A prime place for savings will be outreach workers and promoters. They 
should be crossed trained by multiple services and share a variety of 
messages. With a family intervention approach, we can start small with 
services that are less intimidating and earn their trust, we can then graduate 
to more difficult discussions for example from children’s outdoor play to 
employment.  

- 59 - 
 Page 89



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

4.2 Cross-cutting Task Group on Worklessness 

The qualitative and quantitative research in this Review found that while the 
nature of the economy is difficult for policy to affect, some of the barriers to 
work and the services to remedy them are directly under the Partnership’s 
control.  

Team Hackney suggested the need for a forum to discuss and plan the 
practical logistics of service integration such as data exchange and staff 
training. A final recommendation was approved by the Team Hackney Board 
to create a cross-cutting forum to push past the typical problems that result in 
disconnected services.  

Ideas for group participants included a broad range of officers and programme 
managers, including Third Sector front line staff. Members from across each 
partnership are invited including the Chief Executive of Hackney Homes, The 
Learning Trust, Children’s Services and Community Safety. Requests for 
inclusion in the group came from DAAT, Reducing Reoffending, and different 
programmes within Health and Social Care. 

Specific workshops will cover: 
 Sharing common data 
 Joint communication and outreach 
 Best practice for particular populations  
 Joint strategies and service plans for families 
 Producing joint funding bids between teams and partners 
 Local information exchange within different services 

Recognising that the actions from the Cross-cutting Review of Worklessness 
will need to be delivered during a period of radical political and economic 
change; with much tighter resources a forum may be too much of a ‘loose’ 
vehicle for implementation.  The Chief Executive’s Directorate recommends a 
systematic approach, to include: 

 Identification of an LSP member to hold accountability for the work 
programme and act as a sponsor for the implementation; 

 Prioritise the activities, recognising that whilst all the work is vital, 
some elements are more urgent, and some will not be deliverable in 
the current environment. 

 To facilitate this we recommend developing a clear terms of 
reference to include clear objectives and a timeframe for delivery 
within the next year; with a membership designed to support 
delivery, not discussion. 

 

 

 

- 60 - 
 Page 90



London Borough of Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

- 61 - 
 

Section 5: Conclusion 

As this publication goes to print, welfare reform has begun. Announcements 
of estimated savings of £7 billion per year, initiation of the Single Work 
Programme and the specification of the Universal Credit system have been 
released. Details for all these changes still have yet to make it through the 
legislative process. All of these reforms are occurring against a backdrop of 
local government savings of £60 million before the end of this fiscal year.  

The relevance of partnership and the value of collaboration are higher than 
ever. From identification and implementation to evaluation, shared intelligence 
and delivery can keep the borough efficient and effective in coping with the 
impacts of reform. The new heroes of employment policy for this government 
are Registered Social Landlords and Third Sector organisations. Most of the 
subcontracting will take place outside the local authority, which makes 
partnership links even more important.  

We hope local providers will take up the recommendations in this Review as 
we all work toward shifting Hackney’s workless population. Conditionality and 
sanctions will have a major effect in changing the overall numbers, but moving 
the population off benefit does not necessarily put them into work. With a 
clear evidence base detailing the population characteristics and needs, the 
organisations with the strongest ties to these segments will be in a solid 
position to advocate for their own proven approaches.  

Hackney’s benefit population is driven by the high numbers of IB claimants, 
additionally welfare reform will hit them the hardest; therefore, our future 
research will include an in-depth study of Incapacity Benefit claimants and 
service providers. We will examine successful approaches in our borough that 
are meeting the needs of this population. We will also consider the parallel 
service journey that underlies participation in employment and skills 
programmes. As these findings become available, we hope to continue to 
work with local organisations to turn the research in to practice.  

 

 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Hidden Unemployment: Incapacity Benefit in Hackney 
Chief Executive’s Briefing   
October 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Headlines: 
• By April 2011, nearly 14,000 residents face conditionality changes to their 

benefits forcing new demand increases within LBH services. 10,000 of these 
residents will have one year time limits set on their benefit eligibility.  

 
• The numbers of claimants on Incapacity Benefit have not changed in 10 

years in Hackney.  
 

• Local providers suggest that long-term Incapacity Benefit claimants are 
likely to take a minimum of 18 months to 3 years to get into sustainable 
work.   

 
• Incapacity Benefit dependency can only be reduced through integrated 

service support first. Work related activity is only successful when delivered 
in conjunction with service support.  

 
• There is a chance for local service providers to subcontract through the 

Single Work Programme to offer parallel service support or integrated 
employment support. 

 
• This kind of intensive support typically costs a minimum of £12-14,000, 

which is still a saving over the medium term. 
 

• 5,700 of Hackney IB claimants have mental and behavioural health claims. 
 

• For many of these long-term claimants attitudes and fears about work 
remain a significant barrier to finding and maintaining employment. 

 
• Service packages which include supported employment placements, 

training or education as part of an integrated offer are most effective with the 
population most at risk from welfare reform.  

 
 
 

1 
  Page 93



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Introduction 
Over the last year, the council and its partners in Team Hackney have been looking 
more closely at our local evidence base on worklessness. As part of that process, we 
have attempted to clarify which segments of Hackney’s population have tended to have 
been out of work over the longer-term.   

Incapacity Benefit (IB) claimants are off the books, they are not counted in the official 
unemployment rate. The Coalition Government’s welfare reform policies are meant to 
reduce the 2.6 million claimants across the country. Only five EU member states have 
worse rates of hidden unemployment than the UK (Estonia, Italy, Latvia, Austria and 
Poland).   

As a means of decreasing the numbers on inactive work benefits, Central Government 
has designed a series of changes to the eligibility conditions. The most drastic of these 
will affect Incapacity Benefit claimants. The policy aims to move people to Employment 
Support Allowance after a rigorous Work Capability Assessment (WCA) to determine 
the extent of any illness that may prevent employment.  

Once the WCA has been filed, the new Employment Support Allowance claimants are 
channelled into employment and training assistance or a variety of programmes that 
lead to Work Related Activity. Starting in April 2011 after the WCA diagnosis, all new 
ESA claimants will have one year before their benefit runs out. Considering the 
evidence in this report, this poses a major risk to Hackney as residents have claimed IB 
at the third highest average rate in London over the past decade.  

Another conditionality change will be a cap on the overall benefit allowed for families. 
Currently, the projected ceiling is £26,000. This is equivalent to median income earnings 
after tax for working households. The following benefits will be included in the cap: 

• Income replacement benefits (Jobseeker’s Allowance, Income Support, Employment 
Support Allowance);  
• Other means-tested benefits (including Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit);  
• Child Benefit and Child Tax Credit;  
• Other benefits (including Carer’s Allowance and Industrial Injuries Disablement 
Benefit. 

Welfare reform will also include the introduction of Universal work credit for those out of 
work or on very low wages which will combine JSA/IS, IB/ESA. Universal life credit will 
cover additional living expenses or all those on low incomes, it will combine 
HB,CTB,DLA,WTC and CTC 
 

 

 

2 
  Page 94



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 1 Where we stand: Worklessness Interventions and Incapacity Benefit 

Over the last 10 years, Hackney had the 2nd highest number of IB claimants in London, 
trailing Newham by only a few hundred. For the past decade, an average of 13,000 
people have been on IB. The evidence shows that these are roughly the same 
claimants as 2000. In contrast, the borough consistently supports 7,000 job Seeker’s 
Allowance, the 5th highest in London over the past 10 years.  
This brief provides details about the population of residents on Incapacity Benefit 
including a snapshot of their service dependencies. In Section 1, we breakdown the 
population by type of reported illness, age, gender and duration on benefit. In Section 2, 
we provide an explanation of the types of services these clients rely on and 
demonstrate the various pathways available for employment support. Section 3 
highlights our findings, forthcoming analysis and future research.  
Hackney’s most prominent policy agenda over the past four years has been the 
reduction of poverty and unemployment. Since 2006, we have funded eight 
worklessness programmes including our City Strategy Pathfinder programme. These 
programmes had a total cost of approximately £7 million and placed an estimated 1,400 
people into work. Hackney evaluation records report six IB claimants were placed in 
work or volunteering positions during the four year focus on unemployment 
programmes. Data indicate that the ongoing Ways into Work programme is repeating 
this pattern with no current records of programme participants who are long-term 
unemployed or Incapacity Benefit claimants.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 
  Page 95



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Team Hackney Funded Project: Moving On 
IBs into sustainable work: 3 
From 2007-2009, Team Hackney sponsored Moving On, the project combined 
employment support with mental health condition management through a vocational 
group.  The main methodology used a recovery model and brief solution focused 
therapy approach to assist people in setting, pursuing and achieving vocational 
goals (voluntary, paid or unpaid, work placements and education). The aims of the 
group were to encourage users to identify skills and qualities with the view to 
increasing self-awareness and self-esteem, and offering practical strategies and 
problem solving exercises to overcome possible barriers to engaging in vocational 
activity. Topics included relapse prevention, barriers to vocational activities, 
benefits, disclosure, stigma, skills, careers advice and speakers (e.g. DEA, ex 
service users).  
All beneficiaries received individual employment support provided by an 
Occupational Therapist and Employment Advisors. The Occupational Therapist and 
Employment Advisors provide advice and guidance and active support to employers 
(where requested), including joint supervision/mediation meetings and identifying 
suitable working adjustments. They also offer mental health awareness training. 
Following an initial assessment and creation of an action plan, support included CV 
writing, job search, the identification of suitable training/education and/or work 
experience and interview preparation. Service users also had access to a benefits 
advisor through Mind and Jobcentre Plus. The project held a discretionary fund, 
which includes a £200 back to work entitlement and a contingency element set at 
£300 per user to cover course fees, learning materials, clothing for interviews etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Team Hackney Funded Project: Hackney Works 
IBs into sustainable work: 0 
From 2007-2008, Team Hackney sponsored Hackney Works a partnership between 
Renaisi and Working Links. The programme hosted a series of small projects aimed 
at increasing qualifications and soft skills. The programme included the following 
components:  
Fit 4 Work was a one week-programme aimed at providing employability ‘soft’ skills: 
motivational activities; discussions on workplace behaviour, time-keeping and 
resolving conflict; problem solving; career planning; goals and aspirations. Basic 
skills and ESOL and accredited vocational skills training projects increased 
marketable skills. A project called Routeways designed training programmes in 
partnership with a recruiting employer and clients were offered a job interview with 
the respective employer. Personal Consultants had access to a discretionary spend 
budget for interview clothes, shopping vouchers, travel and childcare costs Another 
project offered employers a wage subsidy for Hackney Works clients. 

4 
  Page 96



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Our unsuccessful interventions with Incapacity Benefit claimants partially have to do 
with inappropriate design of Hackney’s unemployment programmes. Hackney Works, 
the main programme that targeted IB claimants in particular focused on economically 
inactive residents with expectations of 70% women and 20% IB claimants. Moving On, 
the employment programme delivered to mental health clients held a target of 40 people 
into sustained work. The project delivered three work placements, one part-time position 
as an administrator with the East London NHS Foundation Trust, a key partner of the 
project. Programme design could be more appropriate with the right evidence base, 
which exactly identifies the characteristics and needs of the population of IB claimants 
and their primary barriers to work. Through better programming, true assessments of 
the length of intervention could help design more realistic programmes.  

Another aspect of difficulty in reducing the IB client base is the complexity of client 
need. The majority of clients have a health problem, our research found that they 
usually have multiple health problems and the package of conditions is the primary 
barrier to work. This is not only Hackney’s experience, but also a national problem. A 
National Audit Office evaluation of DWP’s Pathways to Work programme found intense 
difficulty meeting targets as well. Pathways to Work was able to improve the number of 
people nationally who went back to work over Job Centre Plus; however, the 
programme was voluntary. A client base more motivated to participate in a work 
programme is statistically going to have higher success rates.  

Even with this higher rate of work placement, Pathways was deemed unsuccessful and 
low value for money by the NAO due the effects of Employment and Support Allowance 
and the medical assessment within the programme. This effect was stronger in moving 
people off the benefit, not necessarily into work but off benefit, than any of the effects 
specific to the Pathways programme. The medical assessments were responsible for 
moving 38% off Incapacity benefit and ineligible for Employment and Support 
Allowance.  

Other forces external to the programme also found to be stronger than the programme, 
the costs of transport and housing and the willingness of employers to take on 
Incapacity Benefit claimants had a major effect on the choice between benefits and a 
wage. This background is vital information as the Single Work Programme comes 
forward. It demonstrates that conditionality will do more to move people off of the benefit 
than any soft touch programme, but it will not necessarily place them into work. This 
could prove to be a larger problem than the claimant rate itself.  

 

 

 

 

5 
  Page 97



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 2: Population Classification and Description 

In this section, we examine the descriptive data to highlight exactly who is claiming 
benefit and for how long. Graph 1 shows the lack of dynamics in claimant numbers over 
a 5-year period, the numbers have barely changed.  

Graph 1 Age: Incapacity Benefit  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

IB/ESA Claimant Rate

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
Over the past decade, the typical duration of an IB claimant in Hackney has nearly 
doubled. In 2000, only 36% of clients were staying on benefit for five or more years, by 
2010, this figure has risen to 65%. The figure for two or more years has also risen, now 
90% of clients have been on the benefit for more than two years. As a percentage of the 
Working Age Population, 45-64s  have made up the majority of the Incapacity Benefit 
population for the last 5 years.  

Of the current 13,360 IB claimants, nearly 60% (7,600) are men or 10% of the male 
Working Age Population claims IB. The age and gender combination reveals that the 
highest proportion of claimants within the Working Age Population are specifically Males 
55-64 as shown in Graph 2. They claim at a rate of roughly 10% higher than the next 
segment, the 45-54s. They also claim benefit at a rate 4% higher than women of the 
same age.  

 

 

 

 

6 
  Page 98



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 2 Gender/Age:  Males on Incapacity Benefit 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

IB/ ESA Claimant Rate (Males)

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

 
While it is generally assumed that men in particular were moved outside the labour 
force and hidden on Incapacity Benefit when the UK economy moved on from 
manufacturing and mining it is imperative to note that Hackney’s extensive client base 
was not a result of structural unemployment in the 70s and 80s. In other words, 
Hackney’s IB claimants were not “parked on IB” as a result of manufacturing jobs loss 
as the majority of Hackney’s claimants were too young to have been set aside. This 
becomes even more obvious in Graph 3. 

Graph 3 IB Condition: Males Mental and Behavioural Health 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

2005 2006 2008 2007 2009

Males 
Condition: Mental and Behavioural Health

18‐24

25‐34

35‐44

45‐54

55‐64

 

7 
  Page 99



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

The age dynamic in the benefit population changes when analysed for condition. The 
highest numbers of claimants within the mental and behavioural health condition are 
consistently 35-45 year old males, 10% higher than the next age segment, the 45-54s.  

The usual story of structural unemployment begins with a large shift of males on benefit 
around the early 80s through to the early 90s. Within these dates, the 35-54s would 
have ranged from ages 6-25 in 1980 and 16-35 in 1990. It is clear these men are not 
unemployed due to structural effects.  Additionally, the incidence of benefit parking was 
less prominent in London as labour market capacity was diverse enough to take on 
many of the manufacturing employees. These men have an actual service need.  

The most commonly reported condition in Hackney for both genders is mental, 
emotional and behavioural health, 46% of all claimants are mental health clients. This is 
11% higher than the Host Boroughs average of 35% and Hackney has the highest 
numbers of mental health claimants within the six boroughs. Even women report mental 
and behavioural health conditions higher than any other rationale. Graph 4 
demonstrates that while the magnitudes of claimants are lower by 10% than men or 
more in some ages, the majority of claimants are on the benefit because of mental 
health issues.   

One interesting difference between the genders is the age of peak claims, for men the 
peak is 35-45, for women it is delayed 45-54. While we can observe a small decrease in 
the male 25-34 rates, the decreasing trend of 25-34s claiming is more obvious in the 
female rates. This could be due to the introduction of ESA, a reduction of benefit 
claimants on the whole or a reduction in mental health cases in the borough. The test 
will be if the spike remains at 35 as these numbers are relatively flat.  

Graph 4 IB Condition: Females Mental and Behavioural Health 

 

8 
  Page 100



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

By comparison, musculoskeletal claims come later for both genders, starting primarily at 
45 as might be expected. These claims are less than the mental health claims by 5%, 
except in the 55-64s where the musculoskeletal claims are higher in both genders by 
15-20% than mental health claims. Graphs 5 and 6 demonstrate age and gender 
difference for musculoskeletal conditions. In total, the absolute numbers of claimants for 
this condition average around 2,000 people, roughly equivalent between men and 
women or 1,000 each.  

Graph 5 IB Condition: Males Musculoskeletal  

 
 
Graph 6 IB Condition: Females Musculoskeletal 

 
 

9 
  Page 101



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Graph 6 confirms that women on IB are primarily 45-54 as the highest cases of both 
mental health and musculoskeletal are in this age group.  

Findings 
The above analysis pinpoints the characteristics of the population on Incapacity Benefit. 
The majority of Hackney claimants are male aged 45-54, and women aged 45-54 make 
up the next highest segment. However, the primary age group shifts down to 35-44 for 
men when we consider the primary health condition, mental illness. Durations on benefit 
have increased over the past decade and total numbers on benefit have increased over 
the past 5 years in tandem with Hackney’s major push to resolve worklessness.  

It is clear investments did not match the needs of this population. We move on to 
discuss the service requirements of the population and their needs as service users 
rather than simply benefit claimants.  

10 
  Page 102



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Section 3: Supporting Employment through Services 

Understanding the role of services within employment support has become more 
relevant than ever as welfare reform targets the very people least able to “get back to 
work”. The redesign of the benefits system and the new conditionality placed on 
Incapacity Benefit ignores the realities of Hackney’s claimant population. The Work 
Capability Assessment will launch a timer for 75% of claimants who are placed in the 
Work Related Activity Group and they will be expected to move toward employment 
activities.  

Hackney’s Moving On project as well as the Pathways to Work programme funded by 
Job Centre Plus were designed to integrate service and employment support. The 
evidence from these programmes underlined the need for rehabilitative and vocational 
activities to be undertaken in conjunction with each other.  

Data collected from a short list of Hackney’s local health and social care providers 
further clarifies that stand-alone employment assistance delivered through a job 
brokerage is not effective for a population with mental, emotional and behavioural health 
issues, or any physical illness that has caused mental illness through extended isolation 
from the job market. As we will see in the results below, treatment begins with health 
and social care. These support services are intensive, extensive and expensive as the 
complex needs that manifest as worklessness are treated.  

In preparation for the Comprehensive Spending Review interviews were carried out with  
• the current Pathways provider, Ingeus (formerly Work Directions),  
• a local disability employment advisor at Job Centre Plus  
• health visitors and coordinators 
• niche agencies and organisations who are in receipt of Supporting People Grant 

funding  
These organizations provide support for people out of work who are dealing with 
multiple problems including mental health conditions, criminal records, homelessness 
and drug and alcohol dependency.  

Our research aims were to get a clearer picture of:  

• Where this group of claimants are presenting across our services  
• How this group of claimants are using employment support services 
• What kinds of approaches to employment support already exist within frontline 

services 
• Key challenges and successes of working with the client group  
• Effective referral systems between support services 
• Costs and benefits of embedded employment support services  
• Efficiency savings within employment programmes 

11 
  Page 103



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

All the providers we spoke to were regularly seeing clients who were on Incapacity 
Benefit, Employment Support Allowance, many that had been moved on to Job Seekers 
Allowance as part of the Work Capability Assessment process.   

3.1 A View from Within: Service Foundations 
Very little mapping of client journeys has been done by individual providers although 
some have mapped their own service offers. In part, this is because client journeys vary 
widely and depend on an individual’s particular circumstances. Not only do the specific 
service packages vary per client, but also providers mentioned that the length of time 
people will participate in various employment, education and training activities can 
range from around three to four months through to four years before finding work. It 
depends on the complexity of people’s personal circumstances, and crucially, their 
mental attitude to work. 

First, our research tracked the service packages that most clients relied on. Interactions 
within these services often created the space for the discussion of employment and 
training. A core component of the employment journey is the ability of the client to move 
from service rehabilitation to positive activities toward employment. Figure 1 lists the 
typical services clients utilised by Incapacity Benefit/ESA claimants.  

Figure 1 IB Health and Social Care Service Usage 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 
 

Services used by IB claimants

Drug and alcohol rehabilitation services 

Secondary mental health services 

Supported housing GP services 

Ex-offenders support advice and guidance

Advice and guidance agencies e.g. CAB, 
MIND etc including debt advice, housing 
advice, benefits appeals

Advocacy support

Basic skills training including ESOL, literacy, 
financial literacy, 

Long-term conditions peer support 
groups for pain management etc

Secondary health services to manage 
a long-term condition

Community sports programmes/groups

Libraries – including in small satellite 
centres at homeless hostels

Parks

Small scale tailored cultural programmes 
e.g. carnival arts programme at Peter 
Bedford Housing for ex-offenders, 
reading groups at hostels, LD literacy at 
Hackney Community College.

Page 104



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Providers were clear that these services underlie all employment programmes. 
Responses were unanimous across the board that success in employment programmes 
began with success in service access and take-up. Services acted as a foundation to all 
employment programmes assisting with the primary needs of housing, counselling, 
group support and health condition management. Without these in place, the client was 
not ready to work through the secondary issues of access to employment, education 
and training. 

Figure 2 illustrates and example of integrated approach to employment support from 
Ingeus, Hackney’s Pathways to Work. Services are delivered alongside an employment 
programme. They offer health care and condition management as part of work search 
activities in a phased and coordinated programme.  

Figure 2 Pathways Programme Phases 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stage one

Programme Entry

Stage two

Service Usage

Stage three

Possible outcomes

Majority of 
clients are 
referred in to 
employment 
support from 
a statutory 
provider

Some 
clients 
self refer

Initial interview 
with an advisor 
Includes initial 
assessment, 
drawing up of a 
work plan and 
doing an in-
work benefits 
calculations  

mandatory participation
in a five work focused
interviews (as members
of the ‘Work-related
Activity Group’)

Clients are encouraged by 
their personal employment 
support advisor to take 
responsibility for their own 
independent job 
searching. Free access to 
computers, phones, 
papers and job adverts

Some clients opt for 
wellbeing support: 
including health 
condition management 
pilates, physio, 
psychologist etc 

Optional employment 
training courses 
including CV workshops, 
interview

Client gets a job 
and sustains it
(They may 
continue using 
some of the 
health support 
services)

Client gets a job for a 
short time but loses it 
and has to start over. 

Client remains out of 
work. They may do 
some low level training 
or health programme. 

Some are pointed in 
the direction of other 
community groups 
or LBH leisure 
activities 

Ingeus states how even the smallest amount of activity can work to build confidence 
and willingness. One of the first ‘services’ men use are gym memberships to help them 
feel physically better. Other service support includes yoga and Pilates classes, 
psychologists, nutrition and cooking classes, mental health services and physiotherapy.   

13 
  Page 105



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Third sector organisations within Hackney offer a similar system of support. They can 
lead with health and social care services, offering employment and training as an extra, 
or vice versa. Like the 2007-2009 Moving On project and Pathways, most programmes 
delivered by community organisations will couple therapy or health services with work 
focused activity.  

Figure 3 Third Sector Service and Work Focused programmes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Referral into 
programmes Support Services Possible outcomes

Referral by 
outside 
agencies: GPs, 
secondary 
health 
services, 
housing needs, 
Prime 
Providers e.g. 
Ingeus

Referrals 
between 
community 
providers: 
mental health, 
ex-offenders or 
homelessness 
support and 
advocacy 
organisations

Initial interview with 
an employment 
advice and 
guidance advisor. 
Typically includes: 
an individual 
assessment of 
current 
circumstances and 
development of a 
personalised plan 
which includes a 
series of small 
steps to deal with 
specific issues e.g. 
debt, drug 
dependency, social 
isolation, ill health 
etc

Word of 
mouth and 
self referral 

Sustained full or 
part time job

Full time 
education 

Series of agency 
jobs

Client remains out of work but 
remains involved in other 
meaningful social activity e.g. 
reading groups, walking 
groups, volunteering and:.

Health condition is better 
managed, wellbeing improves

Substance misuse is better  
managed

Social isolation reduces

Increased exposure to a wider 
net of peer support and role 
models 

Confidence gained from in-
situ work experience with 
peers 

Opens up the possibility in 
that employment may be an 
option for them in future 

ESOL and basic literacy taught 
through cultural activity e.g. craft 
workshops

Employment support with 
advisors or in workshops e.g. 
CV development, interview 
practice

Initial assessment 

Basic financial literacy, debt 
management, housing advice etc 
provided in –situ 

Enrol in parallel substance 
misuse treatment

Short term basic work 
experience

Wellbeing support programmes 
including walking groups, peer 
health condition management 
support groups etc

 

 

 

 

 

 

14 
  Page 106



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

3.2 Failure and Set backs in Employment Projects 

The inability of Team Hackney and the national Pathways programmes to get IB 
claimants into work was echoed among the providers we spoke to, especially 
sustainable work. The journey just is not that simple either for someone who has been 
out of work for an extended period, or someone who has service barriers. Especially 
with mental health issues, the services we spoke with said a linear employment journey 
where someone moves from out of work to training and then employment to sustained 
employment is almost unheard of. 

Instead, they describe a picture of a complex journey of back and forth in and out of 
work related activity and extended periods on benefit followed by another round of 
service support, training and education and possible employment placement. The 
majority of clients make it only to the interview stage because that is all the employment 
programmes can guarantee. Providers also flagged that the education, training and 
employment journey was likely to be especially slow for clients with the most complex 
support needs, including people who may be in temporary accommodation or going 
through mental health rehabilitation. This group required ongoing support, persistent 
follow up and a flexibility from training providers.  Figure 4 provides a glimpse into the 
real design of pathways for Incapacity Benefit claimants.  

Figure 4: The Real Employment Journey  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15 
 

Personalised 
assessment 

Employment support with 
advisors or in workshops 
e.g. CV development, 
interview practice

Enrol in parallel substance 
misuse treatment

Basic financial literacy, debt 

management, housing advice Personal advisor 
makes contact 
again and 
supports a return 
to a support 
programme 

Wellbeing support 
programmes including 
walking groups, peer health 
condition management 
support groups etc

Service supported work 
experience: painting 
and decorating, 
woodwork etc

Social isolation 
reduces, confidence 
and well being 
increase

Client secures 
temporary 
employment

Under pressure 
client has a 
health relapse

Key: =  positive progress =  relapse

Cultural or sports 
programme aids physical 
rehabilitation

Client sustains a 
part time/flexible job

Life event 
results in 
relapse

=  reattempt

Page 107



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

This picture is key for budgeting, as the restart process is never included in the budgets 
projected for these types of programmes. Pathways to Work was considered an 
unsuccessful programme because of the unrealistic promises made by contractors for 
time frames and sustained progress. The Moving On evaluation and some providers we 
spoke with found an average cost per IB claimant, especially anyone claiming mental, 
behavioural and emotional conditions, would range from, £12,000 to £14,000 per job. 
This accounting is suspect considering a job may take as long as four years to secure 
and it does not include the full price of service support. We consider this figure a lower 
bound.  

The loss of investment comes from a range of factors. The list below includes some of 
the common causes of relapse from education, training and employment.  

• practical problems with housing 
• delays in receiving benefits 
• factors that affected people's established routine  
• difficulties scheduling in medical appointments around other commitments 
• a lapse alcohol and drugs treatment 
• pressure from family members 
•  a decline in health 
• fear of failure and other elements that might trigger some kind of personal crisis 

One major point that came from the services, the Ways into Work evaluations, 
community providers and Ingeus was the need for intensive follow through from 
outreach to service or work related activities. By this, they mean literal handholding: 

• calling people on the phone to wake them up before an appointment 
• travelling to appointments with the client 
• on call support for confidence boosts 
• anger management assistance 
• repeat invitations and reminders 
• repeat requests to view paperwork and assist with applications etc 

16 
  Page 108



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

3.3 Improving the Chances of Success 

We also asked agencies to tell us what they felt was important in terms the design of 
their services. Many explained that the method by which employment programmes were 
delivered was as important as what was delivered.   

Here they have an employment adviser, they see them in the office every day, 
and they stay with the employment adviser all the way through.  The whole basis 
of the service is developing rapport and trust, but also to address constraints by 
asking questions, such as asking why they haven’t found work in the past. We try 
to build up a picture bit by bit of that client.         

The kinds of approaches that advisors had found helpful included 
• taking an open and creative approach to helping  the client move on from 

extended unemployment  
• using individual work coaching to deal with issues like a clients lack of confidence 

to negotiate time off for medical appointments with employers,  
• accepting and acknowledging the small steps people take on what might be quite 

a lengthy employment journey using a simple outcomes framework like the 
outcomes star,  

• facilitating peer support groups where people with similar barriers to overcome 
could be mutually supportive  

• providing practical support to hand to sort out the other issues in their life at the 
same time as dealing with the employment journey.  

The quality of employment support staff was regarded as central.  

The right kind of staff, our advisors are the heart of our service and that is where 
we spend the most amount of money making sure we get the right people. They 
are recruited through a process to make sure they are creative and innovative, 
open minded, positive, problem solving and don’t have a fixed view of clients and 
what they can achieve.  The quality of front line staff and the flexibility you give 
them are crucial. Within our outcomes framework, we give advisors a high 
degree of autonomy to decide who what where when and that is where 
performance comes from. If you turn everything into a linear process it won’t 
work. Interview 7 

Some programmes mentioned that the introduction of employment and training was 
partially the judgement of key workers. An advisor could be too cautious about 
promoting employment opportunities and err on the side of protecting their client from 
any potential failure. Expertise is very important. Although there are many employment 
trainers, there is not necessarily the kinds of specialist employment support providers 
that people furthest from employment were likely to require. Some mainstream 
providers tended to take a too formulaic or linear approach, which focused on CV 

17 
  Page 109



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

development or interview skills and yet were unable to accommodate more complex 
support needs.  In addition, some providers were likely to have restricted eligibility set 
by funders’ requirements rather than peoples’ needs:   

It is going to be harder to help those remaining outside of employment and it 
won’t be as cheap.  One factor in all this is the different funding streams that are 
available. You sometimes get a geographic postcode lottery or other criteria, 
which means that not everyone in the borough is eligible for all services.  
Moreover, some agencies may protect their area of work. Interview 1  

Others mentioned it is increasingly important that staff find ways of productively 
challenging people to have a go at taking on some kind of activity or work. Many agreed 
that continually putting people onto training courses with no employment end was not 
necessarily useful. 

Discuss education, training and employment early on, but in a clinical setting. 
In terms of working with people aged 30-40, a number of interviewees mentioned the 
need to bring up education, training and employment at the point when people seek 
treatment for their health condition and substance misuse.  A number of practical 
suggestions were also made including working with secondary health and rehabilitation 
providers to assist with practicalities like setting up bank accounts or starting raining at 
the same time someone enters drug and alcohol treatment.  Others mentioned the need 
to better consider how we might support Black men into enterprise rather than CV and 
job training, given they seemed to be asking about enterprise support.   

Others also flagged the need to act much further upstream to prevent this cohort of 
people leaving school, going into low-grade jobs and eventually ending up disaffected 
and on benefits aged 35-40, as appears to be the pattern now1.   It was suggested that 
this could perhaps be achieved for some people by providing personalised support for 
young people in schools and building their resilience then, targeting students who 
schools identified as having limited social capital and knowledge and experience of the 
employment market. Intergeneration poverty should be reduced through this cohort of 
young people knowing where they could be 20 years down the line.  

Employment skills introduced through non-threatening activities outside of 
vocational classes are more effective with vulnerable groups.  
Mainstream providers and organisations in the Third Sector routinely mentioned the 
value of using generic health, exercise and culture programmes to encourage clients, 
men in particular, to start participating in an employment support programme. These 
activities included gardening, physiotherapy support, gym classes, reading groups and 
                                                            
1 Other literature suggests that claimants now on IB are not necessarily men made redundant from old industries, 
but rather a new group of less healthy, less skilled and less motivated men (Beatty & Fothergill 2007)  

18 
  Page 110



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

arts and crafts workshops. Several mentioned that men were less likely to sign up cold 
to confidence building and personal development workshops, but might after addressing 
other health issues first.  

What is meaningful depends on their own context - what is challenging for them. 
Some may be more than ready for work, others may have been recently out of 
prison and very drug dependent. Health activity is important as an engagement 
tool so people can do gardening, healthy eating classes or self management for 
health conditions…these kinds of social aspects breed confidence. Peer learning 
is also more effective sometimes than learning from a guy in a suit who has not 
been out the job market recently. While training is important, sometimes people 
use it as a barrier not to go on and get work.  Interview 1  

Examples of small, flexible programmes using included: 

• job retention peer support groups for people with a mental health condition 
• art drop in sessions with a volunteer artist in residence in a hostel 
• hostel reading groups run by resident volunteers using Local Authority Library 

books provided to the centre  
• three to six month paid placement schemes in charity shops, community centre 

kitchens, painting and decorating and basic construction.  

Through these placements, clients with the least skills and confidence have an 
opportunity to build up a portfolio of practical experience in a setting they felt 
comfortable in--a hostel or in community venue. This step-by-step process helps 
address some of the fears and mental barriers they may have to being in 
employment. Further these schemes can also help set different expectations of what 
people can do and achieve as the quote below illustrates: 

We run a social enterprise that is getting people to do real work under our 
banner. Clients have respect and feel safe working in that setting and they are 
learning real skills. Team training in painting and decorating, eating lunch in the 
canteen with other people helps clients see that talking and laughing together 
could be interesting. Interview 8  

Employment support programmes must address fears about losing housing 
benefit after gaining employment.   
A number of interviewees commented on the reluctance people had to take up a 
relatively low paid job, which may not be very sustainable, and to risk losing other 
related entitlements on which they depend, particularly housing benefit. While providers 
can run through exercises to demonstrate how being in work pays off, client perceptions 
are hard to change. The Coalition government's Single Work Programme is designed to 
help overcome these culturally embedded concerns.  

19 
  Page 111



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Specialist, flexible services are paramount for success.  
Some providers expressed uncertainty about whether in this economic climate 
contractors would be likely to continue to commission specialist services that are 
tailored to clients’ specific needs. Concerns were that Government’s proposed Single 
Work Programme would be concentrated with bigger agencies who would only be able 
to offer a standardised employment support package.  Any subcontracting package 
should include  

• Realistic time frames that match client journeys 
• Improved data and monitoring to encourage evaluations over time 
• Flexibility to adapt programmes to local circumstances  
• Provision of discretionary budgets that are key to success such as client 

transport costs, childcare, work clothes purchases and soft skills courses 

Attitudinal barriers and fears needed to be positively challenged to encourage IB 
claimants to seek employment.   
Interviewees noted the difficulty advisors faced when working with clients who have 
been re-categorised as “capable of looking for work” following their Work Capability 
Assessment. This group was moved to Job Seekers Allowance rather than on to 
Employment Support Allowance. They noted that these claimants largely focused on 
appealing the assessment decision and retaining their former status as a person 
incapable of work, rather than thinking about the possibility of employment or dealing 
with debt and other pressing issues.   

Several providers stressed that it can take several years, not months, to open up the 
possibility in some clients’ minds that that being in work can be beneficial.  For people 
living with a complex set of circumstances, it can take a considerable amount of time 
and persistent support to overcome multiple problems that may have caused the long-
term unemployment in the first place.  

One of the complicating factors mentioned by a several interviewees was the difficulty of 
evaluating the successes and benefits of some of these interventions in the short term. 
If programmes only counted numbers of people moved into jobs, they overlook some of 
the wider savings and benefit these kinds of programmes offer such as moving people 
out of social isolation or substance misuse or ill health and into some kind of meaningful 
activity.   

Some of the agencies had developed or were using a simple measurement tool such as 
the St Mungos Outcome Star to help chart the variety of steps clients were taking in a 
number of dimensions on their journey to employment or meaningful activity. This better 
captured the totality of their experience; even they were not in employment yet. Just 
seeing the whole set of benefit of their actions could be motivating.  

 

20 
  Page 112



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Diagram 5 Outcomes Star for Holistic Outcomes Management 

 

 

The St Mungos Outcome Star

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Providers mentioned that it is harder to make the case that some of these programmes 
for ex-offenders or people with mental health problems or drug dependency do result in 
cost savings for the taxpayer. It was often hard to demonstrate immediate value for the 
local authority and the strategic partnership; however, returns could be seen in the 
medium term in the status of families and in reduced reliance on acute services.  

With everyone coming in through the door we are getting them to consider the 
idea of moving into work and we challenge them to consider work, even if it is not 
the right thing now but it might be something they can think about for 5, 10, 15 
years from now.  For some people it is very scary, but you are trying to open up 
that space, expanding people’s horizons.  Because although it is terrifying now, 
similarly terrifying is the idea that in ten years you might be stuck in the same 
situation, so that is a way of opening up the conversation.  I think the success of 
the model is an integrated approach with the health professionals on board and 
giving them a range of activities.  Much more than is shown in the job outcomes, 
I think it improves the quality of lots of people’s lives even if you don’t move them 
into work. Interview 7 

 

21 
  Page 113



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

3.4 Service Gaps and Overlaps  

Complementary programmes across the statutory and Third Sectors help reduce the 
number of people falling through service nets. Referring clients furthest away from work, 
with no interest in employment, to support services and programmes was considered 
vital. These groups need to start somewhere and can build their confidence over a 
series of softer programmes that are better able to provide them meaningful activity.  It 
was mentioned several times that once people are in the system it was much easier to 
move them toward work than if they fell out and had to start again within a drug 
programme or mental health therapy etc. This momentum relies on good networks and 
seamless provision between employment and health and social care services.  

Providers mentioned the importance of good personal communications networks 
between agencies in both the statutory and Third Sector. Building trust and honesty 
about what service agencies are able to offer each other and clients was regarded as 
an important contributing factor to help reduce gaps.  Most of the providers talked about 
the kinds of contacts they have with specialist services including rehabilitation for drug 
and alcohol misuse or ex-offenders and homelessness organisations. Referrals for non-
statutory support services including housing, treatment programmes and advocacy and 
support organisations came from  

• health  services 
• housing needs  
• Job Centre Plus in the state sector 
• networks of other providers in the voluntary and private sector 

Names that were mentioned by interviewees included: Crossroads, Hackney Carers, 
Mind, Shelter, Greenhouse, Red Kite, ex-offenders programmes at The Learning Trust, 
Newlon Housing Trust, Hackney Volunteer Centre etc. GPs were not considered as 
playing a prominent role in referrals, although some GPs provided risk assessments for 
some client groups.  Interviewees raised questions raised about better evaluation of 
GPs sighing off relatively high numbers of people on statutory sick pay or high numbers 
of long-term unemployed patients on their registers. 

When asked about service overlaps, interviewees within health and social care services 
felt there was a degree of duplication between some of their employment support 
services and the mandatory services provided by employment contractors, which could 
be confusing to clients. However, several interviewees also emphasised the value of 
niche support services designed to compliment prime providers and noted how they 
were often more effective at targeting and gaining the confidence and trust of people 
further from employment. Their point was that the system as whole worked best when 
everyone understood when to deploy them. 

 

22 
  Page 114



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

In terms of gaps those mentioned included  
• Support for over 50s with health conditions,  
• ESOL training 
• Affordable basic training for entry level jobs including food hygiene certificates 
• Opportunities for adults over 25 now in general. 

 
3.5 Costs, Benefits and Time 
As we mentioned before, many benefits are difficult to capture, especially when job 
outcomes are the primary measurement. As a result, auxiliary benefits of provision are 
rarely tracked systematically and costs are difficult to trace. Also, some providers were 
able to disclose information on the costs of their service, but some of it was 
commercially sensitive information.   

The LBH Drug and Alcohol Team offered an estimate of £94,000/year for 60 clients. 
They expect to have more information in future once the programme has been running 
for longer and they have evaluation data. 

• programme staff 
• basic skills training 
• discretionary spend such as participant travel costs for their education, training 

and employment programme   

All providers mentioned funding for discretionary spend to tackle some of the practical 
barriers that often prevented people taking up education, training and employment.  
Third Sector organisations and employment providers both made the point that they 
regularly had to draw down on other charitable funding sources to properly resource 
their education, training and employment. Programme specifications rarely included 
these costs in their budget expectations, even though many of these costs were primary 
factors in getting clients to work.  

“The typical things we’d spend money on for clients include, phones, suits, we might 
cover the first months rent if they are going to be in arrears. We might fund 
supermarket vouchers if they will be in arrears, the first month childcare, a months 
travel card…we used to have to pay for people to get driving licences and passports 
where ID for employers was a barrier.  Discretionary spend is important but a good 
quality service goes a long way and treating people well” Interview 7 

Discretionary payments often were provided for 
• travel costs for participants to get to training or interviews,  
• funding for work clothes such as suits or steel toe cap boots and hard hats,  
• phone calls, printing etc.  
• bridging funds to help people deal with the transition from benefits to employment 

so they could pay rent, bills  

23 
  Page 115



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

• a travel card  
• food and childcare in the first month of work before getting their pay cheque 

St Mungos estimate it takes them up three or four years to move someone from the 
point of homelessness when they enter their service, go through rehabilitation and 
progress into work. Employment training and education support costs for this group are 
around £13-15,000, which they estimate then means a saving in the order of £46K to 
the tax payer. This is a similar figure provided in the evaluation of the Moving On 
project. £14,000 seems to be an average expected cost per year for an Incapacity 
Benefit claimant to move into work. 

Most agencies used existing literature to estimate the benefit of interventions on people 
on Incapacity Benefit including the David Freud report commissioned by DWP in 2007. 
He estimated the savings to the state of moving someone off IB and into work are up to 
£62,000, given that claimants have tended to stay on that benefit for eight years on 
average:   

"The fiscal gain of a year-long move into employment by a claimant on one of the 
three main benefits is substantial. I estimate that the savings in terms of gross 
costs to the Department of moving an average recipient of incapacity benefits 
into work is £5,900, with wider exchequer gains (offsetting direct and indirect 
taxes paid with additional tax credits) raising this figure to £9,000. The equivalent 
figures for Jobseeker’s Allowance are £4,100 and £8,100 respectively. For lone 
parents on Income Support the Department savings are £4,400, with no further 
Exchequer savings because of the weight of extra tax credits balancing other tax 
revenues. 

To the extent that the person would not have otherwise worked for many years, 
the saving to the State is a multiple of this figure. For example, once a person 
has been on incapacity benefits for a year, they are on average on benefit for 
eight years. So a genuine transformation into long term work for such an 
individual is worth a present value of around £62,000 per person to the State." 
(Freud 2007, p7) 

Others also referred to the Review on Health and Worklessness by Carol Black. The 
aggregate costs to the national budget were considered: 

“The annual economic costs of sickness absence and worklessness associated 
with working age ill-health are estimated to be over £100 billion. This is greater 
than the current annual budget for the NHS and equivalent to the entire GDP of 
Portugal.” (Black 2008, p10) 

One of the factors often raised about assessing the cost and benefits of education, 
training and employment schemes is that some programmes, particularly statutory 
schemes including the Pathways programme, have tended to cream off clients who are 

24 
  Page 116



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

easier to move into work. These programmes do not emphasise programmes for clients 
with more complex circumstances and lower motivation to find employment.  They 
pointed to research brought forward by policy from national agencies such as the 
homelessness charity Crisis  

“There are different ways of weighting people in the system, - parking and 
creaming – looking at a more sophisticated system of weighting outcomes so you 
get awarded more for people with higher needs, you don’t just park them. It’s 
based on the Australian system and it encourages the contractors to do more 
sophisticated work with people or subcontract with smaller groups. We visited an 
agency three months ago who had a pool of people that they are not working 
with immediately is about three times as large as the ones they are dedicated 
support for getting into work.  So they do things with them but they invite these 
people in a lot less, but that is so they can access funding.” Interview 8 

The Single Work Programme will provide a different funding scheme for those who are 
on IB to encourage Prime Contractors to design a system to work with longer term 
cases. The risk will be passed on to smaller subcontractors and policymakers will need 
to monitor the levels of capacity and interest in such a system by specialist small 
organisations.  

Providers were not clear whether it always ended up costing more to fund clients who 
have relapsed and fallen out of education, training and employment programmes and 
are coming through for the second or third time. 

“Second or third time round – yes it can cost more, because it may take more 
encouragement to get them back there, the process can be longer for some.  For 
others it can be quicker – because they learn something from the failure and they 
look at how to get round that better next time .I.e. some clients are damaged by it 
and some learn.” Interview 9  

Costs associated with a standardised pathway for all, some interviewees argued, 
tended to fail people experiencing complex problems such as homelessness, substance 
misuse and poor mental health. A more nuanced and personalised support package 
delivered by a range of providers that complimented and was networked into the prime 
statutory education, training and employment provision was more costly on the outset, 
but more effective and prevented relapses.    

They felt it did not make sense to put people through a prescribed employment pathway 
if key aspects of their life were chaotic and needed addressing first. There was a sense 
that some groups were resource intensive but not moving to paid work.   

“The people who cost a lot of money are people who engage in the Condition 
Management Programme and engage in workshops but have no interest in job 
searching. From Hackney’s point of view that is not a waste of money, because 

25 
  Page 117



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

they are not at the doctor’s office and not depressed and costing other services 
money but from our point of view, given the way we are paid, that is inefficient.” 
Interview 7  

It was argued that some clients were getting too little out of the mainstream employment 
support programmes and value for money was not being achieved because the 
programmes are not appropriate for them. 

I also think some may be on a programme this may perhaps be a waste of time, 
using a space someone else could better benefit from, because they are left to sit 
in the corner and not really actively worked with.  We have done some peer work 
on what clients say they got from employment programmes.  A lot say they aren’t 
getting much from this kind of service.  It needs to be developed in a different 
way.  They are put on lots of different programmes without the provider realising 
their needs.  Interview 8 

Both the prime providers and the more niche support providers suggested that it made 
more sense to use the mandatory interviews to move people towards a programme that 
kept people actively participating in some way in meaningful activity that over a longer 
time might lead to some kind of employment. They argued that this would likely help 
prevent social isolation and improve an individuals’ wellbeing and health which would 
make them more receptive to employment and training.  

Generally these people are inactive and are heavy users of services and they 
don’t contribute that much to the economy.  There are some groups who are 
contributing, those are normally older women who started off on income support 
and brought up their kids and still have a caring role in the community caring for 
their mother or grandchildren. So they are contributing and not depressed.   

Generally it is quite hard to be inactive and not end up depressed. They end up 
with some kind of health impact or limited mobility and ability to engage with 
society. The efficiencies are massive. Parks for life, for example, IB claimants are 
not going to engage with that. They are probably not using other services, only 
the GP. Using the fact that Job Centre Plus gets people through the door, 
latching on to that touchpoint can help claimants that might benefit from parks for 
life but are not going to use Parks for Life. The integration question is how can 
we get people in by using the mandatory services that link to other services?   

 

 

 

 

26 
  Page 118



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

4. Conclusions and Future Research 

The insight offered over the course of this small sample of interviews with providers 
helps us begin to understand how people with complex mental or physical health 
problems are likely to engage with services and employment support after they have 
been out of work over the long-term. These findings can prepare Hackney’s mainstream 
service and local commissioning plans for the wave of 14,000 new ESA and long-term 
JSA claimants that will require service support in order to re-enter the labour force.  

These interviews remind us that people who present in specialist support services in 
Hackney are likely to be dealing with multiple factors that impact on how they feel about 
finding and staying in work. As a result their journeys to employment are often much 
longer and less linear than other job seekers. It also suggests that mainstream 
employment support services such as CV surgeries are not necessarily going to be of 
best use in the first instance, given this group of claimants’ life circumstances, their 
relatively low literacy and numeracy levels and their fears about finding work and 
loosing benefit entitlements.  

Factors such as the insecurity that comes from being homeless, or the pressures that 
follow from a period of mental ill health when combined with a history of insecure 
service jobs or a substance misuse problem tend to undermine people’s capability and 
resilience to finding and maintaining suitable employment.   What came back from these 
interviews was a message that low-level health, social and cultural interventions such 
as reading or walking groups or physiotherapy sessions appear to be amongst the most 
effective means of engaging these initially. These programmes offer the best means of 
building personal resilience and capability to find and sustain meaningful activity.   

While these groups of claimants have to attend mandatory interviews with the prime 
employment support providers and Job Centre Plus, it is likely that their journey towards 
sustainable employment will be longer and more involved. Their success will depend on 
support from statutory and community services providing the foundations of stability to 
enable them to cope with work related activity. 

Two major findings of our Reviews have been the prevalence of males, specifically 
older males on benefit and the true health related causes of their worklessness. We see 
two areas for future research coming out of these findings: 

1. Many providers mentioned sport, culture and art programmes several times as 
the most effective tools for hard to reach groups. We found reference to projects 
that provide key soft skills for the priority populations on IB. We propose a final 
short worklessness review to examine the mechanisms and complementary 
approaches these programmes use to help men over 30 gain a willingness to 
work.  

27 
  Page 119



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Monitoring and evaluation information from these programmes is not readily 
available; however, so we will examine existing evidence gathered by our 
Culture, 2012 and Health and Social Care teams. This information will help us 
develop a measurement estimate to test the programme effects at an analytical 
level. With the expectation that this population is Hackney’s largest group 
affected by welfare reform, we feel it’s worth further examination to describe the 
contributions these services provide. 

2. Given the prevalence of young men 18-24 on JSA, we believe a possible 
generational link exists between these men and the younger people in the 
benefits pipeline. 33% of children (close to 19,000) live in households who are 
claming worklessness benefits in Hackney. Understanding how sport, culture and 
art programmes reach at-risk youth could prevent another generation of negative 
outcomes.  

3. Information on the total cost of an IB claimant to the Council was not easily 
obtainable, and we have provided generalised data as a place holder. We have 
found a dataset that may help derive per unit costs. Our next paper will examine 
this, add in sport, culture and art and find an estimate for both preventative and 
rehabilitative services for the IB population.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28 
  Page 120



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

Appendix One  

As an illustration of both the complexity of claimants’ personal circumstances and the 
intensive nature of support they are likely to require on their longer-term journey back to 
meaningful activity and employment, we present highlights of the following case studies.  
These examples were submitted by individual providers in receipt of supporting People 
Funding as part of the local commissioning review process for 2009/10.   
 
Case Study 1 
13 years life sentence for assault and criminal damage to his partner.  At first, LV was 
very wary of staff but regular support plan meetings, and goal setting meant that he 
soon became comfortable and confident with his support worker and could plan his 
service and resettlement package with his support worker. 

In September 2007, FTC made arrangements for him to attend the centre and work as a 
volunteer alongside experienced staff members to enable him to gain practical 
experience in IAG (Advice and Guidance) work. Thereafter LV did his NVQ award in 
Information Advice and Guidance with St Giles Trust for which he received his 
certificate in August 2008. To gain further skills in September 2008 LV did a short 
training course in IT skills as this would benefit him alongside his IAG course.  

LV’s voluntary work with FTC came to and end in March 2009 and he is now engaging 
in Penrose Housing Association Education, Training and Employment services, where 
he has been participating in various enterprise courses and making contribution to the 
newsletter. He is also a service user representative. 

LV has also been working with Transitional Space since December 2008 to access 
employment and move on. He has achieved a lot in a short space of time. Due to his 
motivation LV remains very positive and motivated to find work regardless of having a 
few knock backs.    

 
Case Study 2  

I came to London from Scotland in the summer of 2003. I very soon found myself 
sleeping on the street. I was always a heavy drinker but living rough increased my 
drinking. I used to attend various day projects and shelters for the homeless, and after 
three and a half years of living rough I managed to get a referral to a Novas scheme at 
299 Green Lanes, Hackney. 
I had an interview and was accepted. My tenancy started in October 2007. I was given a 
self contained one bedroom flat. This was the first time I had ever had my own place. 
With the support of the staff at Green Lanes I was able to learn about budgeting, and 
also maintaining a tenancy. I learnt to cook for myself. I have also, with the help of staff, 
managed to address my drinking issues. 

29 
  Page 121



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

I am currently on a work placement scheme that is being run by my local Job Centre. I 
hope to be able to undergo training and hopefully get a full time job. 

Case Study 3 
JC was resident from the 17/4/08 – 14/4/09. JC was referred by Hackney Advice & 
Options due to being evicted from previous accommodation for rent arrears. JC was 
referred with identified support needs: physical health and depression. JC was 
supported by her key worker and the resettlement worker to make payments towards 
the rent arrears and access the personal benefits she was entitled to due to her physical 
health issues. JC was referred to the counselling service attached to Church Walk and 
was offered emotional supported by the Mental health Worker. 

JC was actively involved in all aspects of her support plan and was encouraged to 
access training run by Outside In [St Mungo’s service user involvement group] on 
recruitment skills, peer mentoring and resident representatives. JC became an active 
member of Outside In leading on resident involvement at CW with the support of staff. 
JC was involved in the recruitment of several members of staff, sitting on the selection 
and interview panels. JC initiated and set up resident run meetings to feed into the 
management / resident regular meetings and supported other residents to feed into the 
planning and review of services at CW. JC was a pro active participant in the CW 
resident / staff way day which took place and encouraged other residents to attend and 
get involved.  

JC had catering skills which she wanted to utilise and was supported to access training 
where she gained a current reference and recent experience. JC catered several CW 
events including the Health Day which took place in the summer of 2008 and feedback 
from partner agencies who attended was positive.  

JC was supported by the Resettlement Worker to access private rented accommodation 
in Hackney and had a planned move on. JC is continuing to work towards her goals of 
gaining employment in catering whilst living in independent accommodation.  

Case Study 4  
Adrian was arrested for being in possession of cocaine and was referred to One 
Housing Group by Hackney Drug Intervention Programme on 16/12/08.  He was 
homeless and had no fixed address since 2005 as he was forced to leave his rented 
accommodation because he was unable to pay the rent due to his flat mate moving out. 
Around this time he experienced relationship breakdown and lost his employment as an 
engineer. He described his past as ‘unbearable’. Adrian has a history of suicide attempt, 
violence etc. At the time of referral, his needs include; making friends/relationships, help 
with benefits, gaining employment, managing debts/ bills, resettlement, managing a 
home, support with emotional issues and offending, access to daughter, self neglect, 
social isolation, lack of regular food, personal care. 

30 
  Page 122



LB Hackney  Strategic Policy and Research 

31 
 

Adrian now lives at Albion road and has a fixed address until such a time when he will 
be able to move on in a planned way. He is receiving jobseeker benefit and has 
registered and completed courses like web design and computer studies. He is currently 
in a stable mood and was visited by his daughter three weeks ago. He also makes 
contact with his parents and maintains good relationships with friends and room mates. 
He has registered with Hackney Housing and waiting for his bidding number that will 
enable him bid weekly for a more permanent accommodation. His personal care has 
improved greatly. He showers and cleanses his room regularly. Adrian showed interest 
in part time employment and has been referred to working links where he would be 
further supported with getting a job of his choice. Recently he was to attend a work 
interview in the security sector but was later informed that the interview had been 
postponed. He would be informed of a new date later. With this, he now feels socially 
included in the community. Adrian is currently engaging in activities and has re -built his 
self esteem. He is independent with his finances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



LBH Cross-cutting 
Review of Worklessness

Shawnee Keck
Policy Advisor—Economic Affairs
LBH Strategic Policy and Research

P
age 125



Worklessness Floor Target 
Action Plan, EDP 2007
• 2004 Household Survey, 82% of people not in employment were not
currently looking for paid work

• 78% of respondents not in employment had been out of work over two 

years

• Expected at-risk population (based on 2001 Census)
�Bangladeshi women
�Women with no qualifications
�Lone parents
�Anyone with a long-term limiting illness
�Turkish/Turkish Cypriot/Kurdish women
�Pakistani women
�Orthodox Jewish women
�Women aged 55-59
�Indian women

P
age 126



The Importance of Partnerships:
Employment is a ‘Secondary Condition’

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
ta
tu
s

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

C
h
il
d
c
a
re

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt

H
e
a
lt
h

EmployabilityEmployabilityEmployabilityEmployability

P
age 127



The Importance of Partnerships:
Employment is a ‘Secondary Condition’
Fina

ncia
l St

atus

Ed
uc
at
io
n

Health

Employability

Employability

Employability

Employability

Tr
an
sp
or
t

C
h
il
d
c
a
re

P
age 128



S
a
fe
r
C
le
a
n
e
r

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

C
h
il
d
re
n
’s
 

T
ru
s
t

T
h
ri
v
in
g
 

H
e
a
lt
h
y

B
e
tt
e
r 
H
o
m
e
s

EmployabilityEmployabilityEmployabilityEmployability

Reducing worklessness in Hackney

P
age 129



Evaluations
• Longer investment timeframes for vulnerable 
groups
• Training that leads to a job
• Build in time to fail
• Tailored and personalised
• Better off in work incentive like Tower Hamlets
• Self esteem is different for different populations
• Broader definition of work: enterprise and 
volunteering
• More connections with local employers
• Intermediate labour markets

P
age 130



Research Methods

P
age 131



Key Findings

Men of all ages are the most common claimant population 

• Male Unemployment Rate
--17% in Black African, Caribbean and Mixed Black & White
--35% Black Caribbean men aged 18-24 are over represented
by 2.5 times their number in the population

• Incapacity Benefit
-- Majority of claimants are men aged 45-64 
--25% of men aged 55-59
--30% of men aged 60-64

Some women are significantly affected

• Job Seekers Allowance
--21% of Mixed White & Black Caribbean women 18-24
--24% of British Mixed ethnicity women

• Lone Parent Benefit
--Women aged 35-44 are the majority population 

P
age 132



Key Findings

JSA by Age, Gender, and Ethnicity (Males)

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%

wh
ite
 - 
bri
tis
h

wh
ite
 - 
iris
h

wh
ite
 - 
oth
er

mi
xe
d -
 w
hit
e a
nd
 b
lac
k c
ari
bb
ea
n

mi
xe
d -
 w
hit
e a
nd
 b
lac
k a
fric
an

mi
xe
d -
 w
hit
e a
nd
 a
sia
n

mi
xe
d -
 ot
he
r m
ixe
d

as
ian
 o
r a
sia
n 
bri
tis
h -
 in
dia
n

as
ian
 o
r a
sia
n 
bri
tis
h -
 pa
kis
tan
i

as
ian
 o
r a
sia
n 
bri
tis
h -
 ba
ng
lad
es
hi

as
ian
 o
r a
sia
n 
bri
tis
h -
 ot
he
r a
sia
n

bla
ck
 or
 bl
ac
k b
riti
sh
 - 
ca
rib
be
an

bla
ck
 or
 bl
ac
k b
riti
sh
 - 
afr
ica
n

bla
ck
 or
 bl
ac
k b
riti
sh
 - 
oth
er
 bl
ac
k

ch
ine
se
 or
 ot
he
r e
thn
ic 
gro
up
 - 
ch
ine
se

ch
ine
se
 or
 ot
he
r e
thn
ic 
gro
up
 - 
oth
er
 et
hn
ic 
gr
ou
p

Under 18

18-24

25-49

50+

P
age 133



Recommendations
• Priority Groups

– Men (particular ethnicities and ages)
– ex-offenders
– 18-24s
– mental and emotional health
– social housing

• Family Centered Delivery
– Holistic approach and suite of services aligned for 
parents and young people in the same household. 

• Smart Services
– Sharing budgets, data, staff, training and planning 
within and across the Partnership for integrated 
delivery 

P
age 134



Recommendations
• Embed Employment

– Evidence based targeting to those who need us 
most 

• Evidenced Based Policy
– Holistic approach and suite of services aligned 
for parents and young people in the same 
household. 

• Employment Advisors
– Sharing budgets, data, staff, training and 
planning within and across the Partnership for 
integrated delivery 

P
age 135



Housing

Integrated Service Delivery

P
age 136



 
 
 
Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission 

10th November 2014 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission 
Work Programme 2014/15 

 
Item No 

 

7 
 
 
Outline 
 
Attached is the work programme for the Governance and Resources Scrutiny 
Commission for 2014/15.  Please note this is a working document and is 
regularly revised and updated. 
 
 
Action 
 
The Commission is asked to consider and note the report and suggest any 
amendments to its work programme. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission               Work Programme 2014/15      1 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission (as at 25 July 2014)

Rolling Work Programme July 2014 – March 20151 
All meetings take pace at 7.00 pm in Hackney Town Hall unless stated otherwise on the agenda.  This rolling work programme report is updated and 
published on the agenda for each meeting of the Commission.   
 
Dates Proposed Item  Directorate and officer 

contact 
Comment and Action 

Mon 14 July 2014 
 
Papers deadline: Thu 3 July 

Election of Chair and Vice Chair Chief Executive’s First meeting of newly elected Commission. 

Introduction to G&R  O&S Officer  
 

To note. 

ICT Review Finance and Resources 
(Christine Peacock) 

To agree final report. Changes requested at April 
meeting. 

London Living Wage investigation Chief Executive’s  To note Commission’s letter to Cabinet Member for 
Finance on outcome of this investigation 

Finance update Finance and Resources 
(Ian Williams) 

Briefing on the budget scrutiny process and update 
on General Fund savings 2011/12-2013/14. 

Work Programme Discussion  To agree a review topic and topics for one-off items 
for the year. 
 
 
 

                                            
1 Please note there will be no Commission meetings in April 2015 because of the General Election purdah period. 

P
age 139



 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission               Work Programme 2014/15      2 

Dates Proposed Item  Directorate and officer 
contact 

Comment and Action 

 

Mon 8 Sept 2014 
Papers deadline: Thu 28 
August 

 

‘Public Spend’ review – expert 
briefing 

OPM - Sue Goss and  
Independent Consultant - 
John Atkinson 

Briefing on ‘Total Place’ to begin scoping of review 
on ‘Public Spend’ 

‘Public Spend’ review – 
Methodology of Approach to 
Mapping Total Spend 

O&S Team (Tracey 
Anderson) 

Information on the methods of approach used to 
map total spend 

Impact of welfare reforms on local 
residents 
 

Finance & Resources 
(Kay Brown and Jennifer 
Wynter) 

Continuing regular updates on how the Council is 
responding to local impact of welfare reforms.  Joint 
with CSSI members following up on their own 
review.2  Both Commissions collaborating. 

Mon 13 Oct 2014 
 

Papers deadline: Thu 2 Oct 

 

Public Spend’ review – evidence 
gathering session 
 
 

Finance and Resources Information presented on total public spend in the 
Borough 

Complaints Service – annual 
report 

Chief Execs Office 
(Bruce Devile) 

Annual report of the Council’s complaints service 

Council Governance – scrutiny 
inquiry  
 

Mayor’s Office 
(Ben Bradley) 

Response to additional recommendation from April  
(proposal for an annual Full Council work 
programme planning meeting) 

‘Public Spend’ review – Terms of 
Reference ‘  

O&S Team 
(Tracey Anderson 

To agree terms of reference 

                                            
2 G&R received update in Dec 2013.  CSSI received update April 2014 and is due to receive another in March 2015.  

P
age 140



 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission               Work Programme 2014/15      3 

Dates Proposed Item  Directorate and officer 
contact 

Comment and Action 

Mon 10 Nov 2014 
 

Papers deadline: Thu 30 Oct 

 

‘Public spend’ review – evidence 
gathering session 3 

Lewisham Council Information about the Lewisham, Lambeth and 
Southwark Community Budget Programme 

Policy Update – Long Term 
Unemployment 

Chief Executive – Corporate 
Policy 

Information about long term unemployment in 
Hackney 

   

Mon 8 Dec 2014 
 

Papers deadline: Thu 27 Nov 

 

‘Public spend’ review – evidence 
gathering session 4  

 Evidence gathering session 4 

Cabinet Question Time with Cllr 
Taylor (Cabinet Member for 
Finance) TBC 

Cllr Taylor and Ian Williams Cabinet Question Time is now carried out by 
individual Commissions.  Cllr Taylor has lead 
responsibility for revenues and benefits, audit, 
procurement, pensions, and customer services. 

Mon 19 Jan 2015 
 

Papers deadline: Thu 8 Jan 

 

Finance update Finance & Resources 
(Ian Williams) 

Budget and Finance update 

‘Public spend’ review – 
recommendations discussion 

O&S Team 
(Tracey Anderson) 

Recommendations discussion 

   

Mon 9 Feb 2015 
 

Papers deadline: Thu 29 Jan 

 

Finance update Finance & Resources 
(Ian Williams) 

Budget and Finance update 

‘Public spend’ review – agree 
report 

O&S Team 
(Tracey Anderson) 

To agree report 

P
age 141



 

Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission               Work Programme 2014/15      4 

Dates Proposed Item  Directorate and officer 
contact 

Comment and Action 

 ‘Whole person services’ review O&S Team 
(Tracey Anderson) 

Draft Terms of Reference.   

Mon 16 Mar 2015 
 

Papers deadline: Thu 

5 March 

 
No mtg in April due to 
general election purdah 

‘Whole person services’ review – 
evidence gathering session 1 

tbc Evidence gathering session 1 

   

Work programme for 2015/16 
discussion 

 Discussion on topics for work programme for 
2015/16. 

 
The following are also to be scheduled: 
 
Public Participation – full review to commence June 2015 
The Future Public Servant – full review to commence Jan 2016 
Technology and Innovation – full review of Task & Finish 
Capital Strategy – full review 
Fees and Charges – revisit implementation of recs of previous review 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme – one off item 
Big Data – major review 
Full Council – implementation of recs from previous review – one off  

P
age 142


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes , 13/10/2014 Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission

	5 London Borough of Hackney Policy Update - Long Term Unemployment
	Lewisham Lambeth Southwark 2

	6 Public Spend Review - Lewisham, Lambeth and Southwark Community Budget Programme
	Cross-Cutting-Worklessness-Review
	Introduction
	Section 1: Policy History and Background
	1.1 Current Unemployment Policy: 21st Century Welfare
	1.2 New Deals, Pathways and Tackling Worklessness
	1.3 Barriers to Work
	1.4 Applied Personalisation
	Section 2: Segmentation and Uncovering the Unemployed 
	2.1 Income Deprivation
	2.2 Population Characteristics and Segmentation
	2.2.1 Segmentation 1: Gender
	Findings
	2.2.3 Segmentation 3: Age and Gender
	2.2.4 Segmentation 4: Ethnicity
	2.2.5 Segmentation 5: Ethnicity, Age, Gender
	Section 3: Discussion and Recommendations
	3.1 Findings Overview
	3.2 Specific Recommendations
	3.3 General Recommendations 
	Section 4: Consultation with Team Hackney 
	4.1 Partnership Response to Recommendations
	The recommendations above were taken to each of the Team Hackney partnership meetings and the Team Hackney board for discussion. The points highlighted below demonstrate a willingness to work together and detailed suggestions for working together further. 
	4.2 Cross-cutting Task Group on Worklessness
	Section 5: Conclusion
	As this publication goes to print, welfare reform has begun. Announcements of estimated savings of £7 billion per year, initiation of the Single Work Programme and the specification of the Universal Credit system have been released. Details for all these changes still have yet to make it through the legislative process. All of these reforms are occurring against a backdrop of local government savings of £60 million before the end of this fiscal year. 
	The relevance of partnership and the value of collaboration are higher than ever. From identification and implementation to evaluation, shared intelligence and delivery can keep the borough efficient and effective in coping with the impacts of reform. The new heroes of employment policy for this government are Registered Social Landlords and Third Sector organisations. Most of the subcontracting will take place outside the local authority, which makes partnership links even more important. 
	We hope local providers will take up the recommendations in this Review as we all work toward shifting Hackney’s workless population. Conditionality and sanctions will have a major effect in changing the overall numbers, but moving the population off benefit does not necessarily put them into work. With a clear evidence base detailing the population characteristics and needs, the organisations with the strongest ties to these segments will be in a solid position to advocate for their own proven approaches. 
	Hackney’s benefit population is driven by the high numbers of IB claimants, additionally welfare reform will hit them the hardest; therefore, our future research will include an in-depth study of Incapacity Benefit claimants and service providers. We will examine successful approaches in our borough that are meeting the needs of this population. We will also consider the parallel service journey that underlies participation in employment and skills programmes. As these findings become available, we hope to continue to work with local organisations to turn the research in to practice. 

	CEs_Briefing_LBHIB_2010_Final
	EDPPresentation_Mar2010_Final.ppt

	7 Governance and Resources Scrutiny Commission - 2014/15  Work Programme
	G&R rolling work programme 2014/15


